
Unisys
Imagine it.  Done. Unisys Corporation 2003 Annual Report



We have a clear focus on our vision:

Delivering precision thinking and relentless execution 

to drive clients’ business transformation.

Unisys is a worldwide information technology services and 

solutions company. With expertise in consulting, systems integration, 

outsourcing, infrastructure and server technology, our people are 

unified in their commitment to help our clients, in

more than 100 countries, quickly and 

efficiently achieve competitive advantage.

Unisys is headquartered in Blue

Bell, Pennsylvania, in the Greater

Philadelphia area. For more

information, visit our Web site

at www.unisys.com. For

investor information, go to

www.unisys.com/investor.
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LAWRENCE A. WEINBACH
CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT AND 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

2003 was a good year for Unisys and our stakeholders.
Building on the financial consistency we’ve shown over the past 

several years, we delivered strong results in 2003 in another volatile year for the
information technology industry.

Our net income rose 16 percent in 2003 to $258.7 million, or 78 cents per diluted share. We achieved this
earnings growth despite a significant negative impact from pension accounting. Due to a number of factors,
our pre-tax pension income in 2003 declined to about $23 million from $144 million in 2002. When you
exclude the impact of pension accounting from our results in both years, we grew our earnings per share
from 39 cents in 2002 to 73 cents in 2003—an 87 percent increase.*

Equally important, we translated our higher earnings into stronger cash flow. We generated $529 million
of cash flow from operations in 2003—up 63 percent from 2002 levels. After deducting what we reinvested 
in capital assets, the majority of which related to revenue-generating projects such as business process 
outsourcing, we generated $134 million of free cash flow in 2003. We are proud of this accomplishment.

Success Factors: Focus and Execution

Since 2001, we have significantly grown our earnings and operational cash flow. So, what’s behind this success?
At Unisys, it comes down to two key factors: focus and execution.

In 1997, we set a clear focus for our company: to reposition Unisys as a services-led, technology-based
provider of solutions that add value for our clients. Since that time, throughout a tumultuous period for the
IT industry, we have stayed on course and executed against this strategy.

Our focus has been on selectively pursuing high-quality business opportunities based on “win-win” part-
nering relationships with clients. We’ve rigorously avoided low-margin, commodity-based areas of the market.

By the end of 2003, almost 80 percent of our revenue was generated from services and 20 percent from
enterprise servers. However, a transformation of this nature is never complete. Nevertheless, we are delivering
higher earnings, enhanced financial consistency and improved service to our customers.

Continued Strategic Progress

As we continue the Unisys transformation, we are focused on five key strategic objectives for profitably
growing our business in 2004.

Achieve double-digit growth in our business process outsourcing. Outsourcing helps enhance our
financial consistency by providing a reliable stream of revenue and profits over multiyear contracts.
Outsourcing is the fastest-growing area of the IT services market, as clients look to reduce costs, improve
efficiencies and, in many cases, transform their processes by turning over the management of their data
centers and business processes to external partners.

* See reconciliation of GAAP to non-GAAP financial information available on the Unisys Investor Web site at www.unisys.com/investor.
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Financial Summary

Year ended December 31
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

2003 2002 % change

Revenue $5,911.2 $5,607.4 5%
SG&A 1,007.2 992.0 2%
SG&A as % of revenue 17.0% 17.7% –
Operating income 427.7 423.2 1%
Operating income as % of revenue 7.2% 7.5% –
Interest expense 69.6 66.5 5%
Net income 258.7 223.0 16%
Diluted earnings per share .78 .69 13%
Total debt 1,068.2 829.7 29%
Cash flow from operations 529.2 324.5 63%
Year-end stock price 14.85 9.90 50%
Shares outstanding 331.9M 326.2M 2%
Number of employees 37,300 36,400 2%

At Unisys, we’ve chosen to focus on opportunities in Business Process Outsourcing (BPO).
Because of our capabilities in high-end consulting and transaction processing and our industry
expertise, Unisys can manage a client’s business processes and transform them for enhanced 
productivity and effectiveness. That’s the approach we’ve taken in such BPO areas as payment
processing, insurance processing, mortgage processing, remittance and claims processing and
cargo management.

Our outsourcing strategy is delivering results. In 2003, we grew our outsourcing revenue by 
17 percent, driven by very strong growth in BPO. We also signed major, multiyear outsourcing 
contracts with Royal & SunAlliance, HBOS plc, the cities of Minneapolis and Chicago, and the
Board of Airline Representatives in Australia, to name a few. We are focused on keeping the
momentum going in 2004.

Achieve double-digit growth in enterprise security. Recent global events have raised awareness
of the need for enterprise security. Security threats can come from anywhere—from air travel and
cargo, from containers entering seaports, from e-mail viruses. These developments have created
demand for sophisticated services that can help clients secure their infrastructures and their global
supply chains.

Unisys has focused on this growth opportunity. We have decades of expertise in security, and
in recent years we’ve developed leading-edge tools and methodologies to address complex security
issues. We also recently created a Unisys Security Advisory Board of leading security experts from
the private sector and government, who advise us on client needs and trends in this market.

Here again, our efforts are yielding results. Our enterprise security revenue showed strong
double-digit growth in 2003. We continued to build our base of security clients. We also continued
to build our leadership in security in the U.S. federal government arena. Building on our ongoing
work with the U.S. Transportation Security Administration (TSA) to improve security at U.S. air-
ports, in 2003 we were selected to lead four pilot projects for the U.S. Operation Safe Commerce
program to evaluate and test security technologies at key U.S. seaports. This is a potentially huge
endeavor, and we’re honored to be part of the pilot process.

Continue to enhance our services operating margins. As we’ve built our services business to
the point where it now represents almost 80 percent of our total revenue, we’ve also been working
to enhance the profit margins of this business.

Since services is a people business, much of our effort has centered on strengthening and
better utilizing our skill sets. We’ve recruited hundreds of senior consultants and industry leaders
from prominent service firms. We’ve shifted our delivery people to faster-growing areas such as BPO
and federal government work. We’ve also launched innovative offerings such as our new 3D Visible
Enterprise initiative, which allows executives to see the cause and effect of strategic decisions on 
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their IT infrastructure before they make them—allowing them to implement their visions more
quickly, and with substantial cost savings.

Our services operating margins have improved steadily over the past three years, excluding the
impact of pension accounting. Our goal is to achieve a 10-percent operating margin in our services
business by the end of the fourth quarter of 2005. We still have work to do to achieve that goal, but I’m
pleased with our progress.

Double-digit growth in our ES7000 servers. As we’ve grown our services business, Unisys has also
transformed our technology offerings. We have focused our technology business on high-end enterprise
server technology to support mission-critical environments. We continue to enhance our ClearPath
server products to provide more openness, new functionality and additional processing capability. The
ClearPath line of proprietary systems continues to be used by thousands of customers worldwide.

In addition, our expanded family of ES7000 servers using Intel processors and Microsoft software
technology continues to redefine market expectations and economic benefits for industry standard
environments. It has established technology leadership, providing the industry’s most flexible and
comprehensive product line. Superior price and performance, based on numerous industry-leading
benchmarks, have positioned the Unisys ES7000 as the market leader for high-end, Windows-based
servers. Clients are reaping the benefits of a significant lower-cost model without compromising their
mission-critical objectives.

We’ve been proactive with our partners in building the market for the ES7000—and these efforts
are paying off. Our ES7000 customer revenue grew 25 percent in 2003, and we continue to win large
numbers of new clients. In fact, more than 40 percent of our ES7000 sales are to new customers. We
also continue to see a growing number of repeat and multiunit orders. These are all very positive signs
that momentum in this program will continue to grow.

Enhance global brand awareness of Unisys. Our final strategic objective is to continue enhancing
our global brand awareness. We are getting the word out on Unisys—who we are, what we do, the
tremendous capabilities we’ve built in this company in recent years, the success of our transformation.
We are enhancing our brand through focused marketing efforts, through our global advertising 
program and by featuring Unisys experts at conferences and industry events.

Here again, we are pleased with our progress. In 2003, we achieved significant milestones in
gaining recognition for Unisys among key media and industry analysts. Our transformation was 
featured in Barron’s, The Financial Times, InformationWeek and other leading publications. We also
significantly expanded our coverage on Wall Street. We remain focused on building our brand.

Commitments

For all the changes that have occurred at Unisys, certain core commitments will never change. Unisys
and our board of directors are committed to sound corporate governance—to manage the company in
the best interests of our stakeholders. We continue to have a strong code of ethical conduct in place.
We are committed to promoting diversity and a culture of inclusion in our work force. We are com-
mitted to our seven operating principles, not the least of which is absolute integrity in everything we
do. We are committed to protecting the privacy of our employees, customers and other constituents.
We are committed to social responsibility and sound environmental management.

In short, we are a dynamic company—continually changing to meet the needs of the marketplace,
yet based on certain fundamental, unchanging principles. The Unisys transformation continues, and I
look forward to reporting on our progress.

Regards,

Lawrence A. Weinbach



4



5

focus on ENTERPRISE
TRANSFORMATION

ING

The Focus: Integrating global operations and

lowering costs for the Netherlands-based

company’s life and pensions business.

The Solution: Unisys 3D Blueprinting tailored

to ING’s specifications increases produc-

tivity, significantly accelerating ING’s new

product development and deployment—and

keeping its operations more competitive.

This blueprint now serves as the foundation

for Unisys Insurance Blueprint—a repeatable

solution that can be applied to address similar

business needs of other Unisys clients.

Telenor

The Focus: Improving internal switchboard

performance for the Norwegian telecom’s

business customers.

The Solution: Unisys integrates leading-

edge technologies to develop Talk2Call™,

an automated, voice recognition telephone

directory attendant that answers corpo-

rate switchboard calls around the clock,

tracking down employees wherever they

are and transferring callers to the right

party—even when the main switchboard is

closed. Talk2Call™ even cuts call-routing costs

by more than half. So innovative is Talk2Call™,

in fact, that it earns Telenor a Computer-

world Honors Program Laureate for the

21st Century Achievement Award.

Imagine: being able to see the consequences of a

course of action before you take it. Of knowing

the true benefits of spending money before you

spend it. This is the power of the 3D Visible

Enterprise by Unisys. 3D-VE reveals the often

hidden cause-effect relationships among business

vision, business processes and the IT systems that

support them. It unites our focus—from the

industries we serve, to the solutions that we

deliver, to the products that we sell. Business

benefits include re-engineering and aligning

processes, sharing assets, reducing cycle times,

eliminating redundancies and accelerating

speed to market. These benefits are the result of

what we call 3D Blueprinting—our ever-

expanding library of tangible solutions that is

the path to the 3D Visible Enterprise. These

“blueprints” enable us to dive to the core of our

clients’ needs quickly and efficiently. With 

objectivity and world-class expertise, Unisys

consultants work closely with those clients,

understanding their business vision and aligning

across their enterprise from process through to

execution. This is the essence of partnership. At

Unisys, we’re not successful until our client is.

c Consulting.
c Systems Integration.
c Outsourcing.
c Infrastructure.
c Server Technology.



6

focus on OUTSOURCING

How can a cost burden be transformed into a

competitive business asset? The answer is out-

sourcing. Turning over transaction-intensive

processes to a trusted partner with the resources

and industry expertise to manage them enables

companies to concentrate their energies and

assets on being successful. In 2003, more and

more companies turned to Unisys—so many,

in fact, that outsourcing is our fastest-growing

business. Through Business Process Outsourcing,

for example, we not only increase productivity

by streamlining processes, we improve them.

And our Information Technology Outsourcing

services lift technology issues from our clients’

shoulders by managing their data centers and 

IT network infrastructures. We offer our clients

worldwide industry expertise in financial services,

government, transportation, communications and

other markets. The bottom line? Proven outcomes

for our ever-expanding client base, minimizing

their costs and magnifying their returns.

Compañía Anónima Nacional
Teléfonos de Venezuela (Cantv) 

The Focus: Cutting costs while improving

customer service at Venezuela’s largest

telecom.

The Solution: Unisys manages Cantv’s

Customer Care Center, servicing more than

2.5 million customers and processing over

four million calls per month. By tapping

into Unisys expertise, Cantv more than

halves the cost of handling incoming calls

and consolidated customer service opera-

tions. In addition, the voice-driven Unisys

Communications Application Platform

lets customers nationwide make collect

domestic and international calls without

operator assistance, a service Cantv calls

101. It adds up to a simple equation: More

collect calls equal greater revenue for Cantv.
c Consulting.
c Systems Integration.
c Outsourcing.
c Infrastructure.
c Server Technology.
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Royal & SunAlliance

The Focus: Reducing costs and business

risk for one of the world’s largest inter-

national insurance groups.

The Solution: The London-based insurer

adopts a new strategic business model,

outsourcing staff and policy maintenance

to Unisys. Through this business process

outsourcing plan, Unisys takes over back-

office functions, migrating outdated legacy

servers onto new systems and re-engineering

processes to improve operational capability

and efficiency. Royal & SunAlliance reduces

its costs and increases its levels of customer

service and satisfaction. In all, a sound policy

for underwriting continued success.
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South Africa Department 
of Home Affairs

The Focus: Curtailing identity-related fraud

that costs the government hundreds of

millions of dollars a year in wrongfully 

disbursed social service grants.

The Solution: Unisys integrates key com-

ponents of the Home Affairs National

Identification System (HANIS), and helps

develop, build and implement its opera-

tions, including image capture, control,

verification and infrastructure. HANIS

will draw on a database of digital finger-

prints to identify citizens and legal per-

manent residents via smart ID cards. The

biometric system will safeguard against

forgery, rampant double-dipping for social

service grants and other fraudulent activ-

ities that the former manual processes

could not control.
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focus on SECURITY

U. S. Transportation Security
Administration (TSA) 

The Focus: Partnering with the Transportation

Security Administration to service its entire

set of information technology needs.

The Solution: Unisys provides an advanced,

enterprise-wide IT environment that in-

corporates enterprise architecture, a

secure data center, network operations,

telecommunications services, network/

security operations and mission-critical

applications. Through an innovative,

performance-based, business utility/man-

aged services contract, Unisys is working

with TSA to restore confidence in the

nation’s transportation systems by setting

a new standard of excellence in service

and security to ensure the freedom of

movement for people and commerce.

Cyber attacks on enterprises. Audit and risk

management issues. Supply chain integrity.

Expanding security regulations. Common sense.

We are all just beginning to realize the full scope

of security requirements. Security is not just a

necessity to protect critical business assets—

from networks to brand and reputation. It’s also

an indispensable enabler of business growth. A

well planned and implemented security pro-

gram can dramatically reduce operational costs

and create new sources of revenue from cus-

tomer services and relationships based on dig-

ital identities. Of course, defining and meeting

security requirements can be a complicated

task, with business, technical and even regula-

tory challenges. So Unisys makes our clients’

security our business. We combine deep tech-

nical knowledge with business-process expertise

in key vertical industries. Our experts design,

deliver and manage integrated security strate-

gies and solutions that help clients transform

their business to capitalize on new opportuni-

ties. We partner with clients worldwide to help

overcome their security challenges and provide

peace of mind, today and every day.

c Consulting.
c Systems Integration.
c Outsourcing.
c Infrastructure.
c Server Technology.
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Bavarian Ministry of Justice

The Focus: Improve public service by mod-
ernizing and outsourcing management of
IT facilities of this government agency
that oversees the Department of Public
Prosecution, Bavaria’s penal system and
all courts of law.

The Solution: By providing a full range of
Infrastructure Managed Services, Unisys
enables more than 12,000 end users at
over 200 locations in Germany’s largest
state to more quickly share critical data on
pending cases and expedite cases through
the court system. Now the Ministry delivers
more efficient and comprehensive ser-
vices—and gives citizens quicker access 
to justice. 

BT Global Services

The Focus: Helping one of the world’s leading
telecommunications providers efficiently
and cost-effectively deliver infrastructure ser-
vices where its network meets thousands
of its key customers around the globe. 

The Solution: BT works with Unisys to
enhance delivery of its managed services
and solutions to clients with operations
on a global basis. Unisys manages the
delivery of connectivity device services
that help BT Global Services—BT’s inter-
national business services and solutions
division—maintain its best-in-class status
in delivering a growing range of local and
international end-to-end communications
services, establishing global service standards
and retaining a competitive edge. The
connection is clear: BT Global Services
improves cost through effective manage-
ment of its supply chain—and benefits
its customers with consistency of supply
and enhanced quality of service.
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focus on   INFRASTRUCTURE

Drive business results. Gain flexibility for next-

generation infrastructure and applications.

Collaborate with partners for access to expertise.

Improve cost control. Sustain and enhance busi-

ness value. By providing services that manage

transformation, support and security of the IT

infrastructure, Unisys addresses those imperatives

for clients and enables them to do what they do

best: focus on their business. Unisys partners with

clients, providing services that help them

capitalize on a secure, end-to-end infra-

structure—servers, desktops, mobile and

wireless systems, security facilities, net-

works and applications—to deliver new

services, transform their business

operations and deliver exceptional,

individualized experiences for their

employees and customers. We

provide IT strategy and planning

skills and experience worldwide

to optimize existing infrastructure

assets, build new networks, con-

solidate servers and more. Unisys

has the worldwide skills, systems

and experience to deliver—anywhere.

c Consulting.
c Systems Integration.
c Outsourcing.
c Infrastructure.
c Server Technology.
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focus on SERVER TECHNOLOGY

Microsoft

The Focus: A server platform able to

support the software giant’s integrated

—and ever-growing—sales, service and

marketing data warehouse.

The Solution: Unisys mighty ES7000s

revolutionize how Microsoft employees

access and use customer information.

These high-performance servers have

multiplied transaction processing five-

fold, supporting 375 million writes per

day to Microsoft’s database, 1.2 billion

reads and 14,000 Microsoft users. What’s

more, this consolidated environment enables

the company to better ensure customers’

privacy and be more responsive to their

needs. We call it business intelligence for

intelligent business.

Travelsky

The Focus: Meeting the growing civil aviation

demands of the world’s most populous

country—smoothly and seamlessly.

The Solution: Travelsky, the leading provider

of information technology for China’s air

travel and tourism industries, selects Unisys

ClearPath and ES7000 servers to power

its electronic booking applications and pro-

vide critical data disaster recovery support.

Unisys re-engineers Travelsky’s distribution

and inventory control systems, enabling

the government enterprise to handle the

burgeoning passenger traffic—and keep

the country’s 27 airlines airborne.

Information may be power, but at Unisys, we

power the information that organizations need to

give them competitive advantage. Our ClearPath

servers provide the transaction integrity needed

for truly mission-critical applications across a

wide range of computing environments. We lead

the world in extending the benefits of Microsoft

standardization into the data center with our

ES7000 servers and infrastructure service exper-

tise. Both product families enable our clients to

better manage their businesses, make critical

decisions faster, control ever-growing databases

and operate more efficiently and more eco-

nomically than ever before. With Unisys server

technology at the heart of their IT architecture,

companies can count on robust enterprise

performance for all their applications.

c Consulting.
c Systems Integration.
c Outsourcing.
c Infrastructure.
c Server Technology.
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You can create great services, develop ingenious

solutions, but without the right people with the right

skills and the right mindset to deliver those services

and solutions, a business cannot be successful.

Unisys people know this. Performance is written into

our rallying cry: Imagine it. Done. It’s at the core of

our vision: Deliver precision thinking and relentless

execution to drive clients’ business transformation.

And it’s built into our Operating Principles: External

Obsession, Best or Nothing, Invent the Future, Be

Bold, Team for Speed, Deliver or Die, and Absolute

Integrity. This is how we do business day-to-day. 

To help maintain top performance, we have concen-

trated on identifying skills shortages and developing

training to build proficiencies, including an effective

management program for all managers. Employees

manage their careers using our online Career Fitness

Centre, and they can benefit from continual learn-

ing and development through Unisys University. 

As for new hires, we employ rigorous recruiting

methods to bring in people of diverse backgrounds

who are a match for our business.

At Unisys, all employees receive an annual review to

ensure their performance objectives are measurable,

ever-challenging and on track. And because the com-

petitive market continually raises the bar, we must

respond. That’s why rewards are based on perfor-

mance. It’s how our employees stay motivated, and

how we identify and retain the best talent.

Be it enterprise transformation, outsourcing, security,

infrastructure or server technology anywhere in

the world, Unisys people share a common purpose:

helping our clients succeed. This was key to our

overall performance in 2003.

focus on PERFORMANCE



David O. Aker
Senior vice president, 
worldwide human
resources. A Unisys 
officer since 1995. 
Age 57.

Leigh Alexander
Vice president and 
chief marketing officer. 
A Unisys officer since
2000. Age 46.

Richard D. Badler
Senior vice president, 
corporate communications.
A Unisys officer since 
1998. Age 53.

Greg J. Baroni
Vice president and 
president, global public
sector, enterprise 
transformation services. 
A Unisys officer since 
2004. Age 50.

Scott A. Battersby
Vice president and treasurer.
A Unisys officer since 2000.
Age 45.

Carol S. Sabochick
Vice president and 
corporate controller. 
A Unisys officer since
2002. Age 43.

Leo C. Daiuto
Vice president, product
development and tech-
nology. A Unisys officer
since 2000. Age 58.

Dominick Cavuoto
Vice president and 
president, global financial 
services, enterprise 
transformation services. 
A Unisys officer since
2004. Age 50.

George R. Gazerwitz
Executive vice president
and president, systems &
technology. A Unisys
officer since 1984. Age 63.

Janet Brutschea
Haugen
Senior vice president 
and chief financial officer. 
A Unisys officer since
1996. Age 45.

Joseph W. McGrath
Executive vice president 
and president, enterprise
transformation services. 
A Unisys officer since
1999. Age 51.

Jack F. McHale
Vice president, investor
relations. A Unisys officer
since 1986. Age 54.

Nancy Straus 
Sundheim
Senior vice president, 
general counsel and 
secretary. A Unisys officer
since 1999. Age 52.
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Executive vice president
and president, global 
infrastructure services. 
A Unisys officer since
2000. Age 52.

Lawrence A. Weinbach
Chairman, president and
chief executive officer. A
Unisys officer since 1997.
Age 64.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

J.P. Bolduc
Chairman and chief 
executive officer of JPB
Enterprises Inc., a merchant
banking, venture capital 
and real estate investment
holding company, and chief
executive officer of J. A.
Jones. Previously president
and chief executive officer,
vice chairman and chief
operating officer of W. R.
Grace & Co., a specialty
chemicals and health care
company. Director of 
Proudfoot PLC and EnPro
Industries Inc. A Unisys
director since 1992. Age 64.

Edwin A. Huston
Retired vice chairman,
Ryder System Inc., an
international logistics
and transportation solu-
tions company. Previ-
ously senior executive
vice president, finance,
and chief financial
officer. A director of
Answerthink Inc.,
Enterasys Networks Inc.
and Kaman Corp. A
Unisys director since
1993. Age 65.

Clayton M. Jones
Chairman, president and
chief executive officer of
Rockwell Collins, Inc., a
global aviation electronics
and communications
company. Previously
executive vice president
of that company and
senior vice president of
its former parent company,
Rockwell International
Corporation. A Unisys
director since 2004. 
Age 54.

Theodore E. Martin
Retired president and
chief executive officer 
of Barnes Group Inc., 
a manufacturer and 
distributor of automotive
and aircraft components
and maintenance 
products. Previously
executive vice president,
operations. A director 
of Ingersoll-Rand Co.,
Applera Corp. and C.R.
Bard Inc. A Unisys
director since 1995. 
Age 64.

Lawrence A. Weinbach
Unisys chairman, presi-
dent and chief executive
officer since 1997. 
Previously managing
partner and chief 
executive, Andersen
Worldwide, a global pro-
fessional services organi-
zation. A director of Avon
Products Inc. and UBS
AG. A Unisys director
since 1997. Age 64.

Dr. James J. 
Duderstadt
President emeritus and
university professor of
science and engineering
at the University of
Michigan. A director of
CMS Energy Corpora-
tion. A Unisys director
since 1990. Age 61.

Henry C. Duques
Retired chairman and
chief executive officer,
First Data Corporation,
an electronic commerce
and payment services
company. A director of
First Data Corporation,
CheckFree Corporation
and SunGard Data 
Systems Inc. A Unisys
director since 1998. 
Age 60.

Denise K. Fletcher
Former executive vice
president and chief 
financial officer of 
MasterCard International,
an international payment
solutions company. 
Previously chief financial
officer of Bowne Inc., 
a global document 
management and infor-
mation services provider.
A Unisys director since
2001. Age 55.

Gail D. Fosler
Executive vice president
and chief economist, 
The Conference Board, 
a business-sponsored,
nonprofit research orga-
nization. A director of
Baxter International Inc.,
Caterpillar Inc. and DBS 
Holdings (Singapore). 
A Unisys director since
1993. Age 56.

Melvin R. Goodes
Retired director and
chairman and chief
executive officer of
Warner-Lambert Co., a
diversified worldwide
health care, pharmaceu-
tical and consumer
products company. Pre-
viously held position of
president and chief
operating officer. A
Unisys director since
1987. Age 68.*

*Retired February 2004
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The Unisys Board of Directors

The board of directors is responsible for overseeing the business and affairs of the company.

Committees: The board of directors has a standing audit committee, compensation committee,
finance committee, and nominating and corporate governance committee.

The Audit Committee: Assists the board in its oversight of the integrity of the company’s financial
statements and its financial reporting and disclosure practices, the soundness of its systems of internal
financial and accounting controls, the independence and qualifications of its independent auditors, the
performance of its internal and independent auditors, the company’s compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and the soundness of its ethical and environmental compliance programs.
The Compensation Committee: Oversees the compensation of the company’s executives, the company’s
executive management structure, succession planning for executives, the compensation-related policies and
programs involving the company’s executive management and the level of benefits of officers and key
employees. It also oversees the company’s diversity programs.
The Finance Committee: Oversees the company’s financial affairs, including its capital structure, financial
arrangements, capital spending, and acquisition and disposition plans. It also oversees the management and
investment of funds in the pension, savings and welfare plans sponsored by the company.
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee: Identifies and reviews candidates and recommends
to the board of directors nominees for membership on the board of directors. Oversees the company’s
corporate governance.

Classification of Directors: The board of directors currently consists of 10 members, divided
into three classes. One class of directors is elected each year to hold office for a three-year term. Nine of the

10 directors are independent directors.

Compensation of Board 

The company’s nonemployee directors receive an annual $50,000 retainer, an annual $10,000 attendance 
fee for regularly scheduled board and committee meetings, and a meeting fee of $1,000 for attendance at
certain additional board and committee meetings. In addition, the chairmen of the compensation and the
finance committees receive an annual $5,000 retainer, and the chairman of the audit committee receives an
annual $10,000 retainer. During 2003, each nonemployee director also received an option to purchase 12,000
shares of Unisys common stock. Stock options vest in four equal annual installments beginning one year
after the date of grant. The annual retainers and annual attendance fee are paid in monthly installments,
with 50 percent of each installment paid in cash and 50 percent in the form of common stock equivalent
units. The value of each stock unit at any point in time is equal to the value of one share of Unisys common
stock. Stock units are recorded in a memorandum account maintained for each director.
A director’s stock unit account is payable in Unisys common stock, either upon termination of service or 
on any date at least five years (two years for stock units awarded after January 1, 2001) after the stock units
are awarded, at the director’s option. Directors do not have the right to vote with respect to any stock units.
Directors also have the opportunity to defer until termination of service, or until any date at least two years
after the deferral, all or a portion of their cash fees. Any deferred cash amounts, and earnings or losses
thereon, are recorded in a memorandum account maintained for each director. The right to receive future
payments of deferred cash accounts is an unsecured claim against the company’s general assets. Directors
who are employees of the company do not receive any cash, stock units or stock options for their services 
as directors.



A majority of the board of directors shall qualify as 
independent under the listing standards of the New York
Stock Exchange.

The nominating and corporate governance committee
reviews annually with the board the independence of outside
directors. Following this review, only those directors who
meet the independence qualifications prescribed by the New
York Stock Exchange and who the board affirmatively deter-
mines have no material relationship with the company will be
considered independent. The following commercial or chari-
table relationships will not be considered to be material rela-
tionships that would impair independence: (a) if a director is
an executive officer or partner of, or owns more than a 10 per-
cent equity interest in, a company that does business with
Unisys, and sales to or purchases from Unisys are less than
1 percent of the annual revenues of that company and (b) if a
director is an officer, director or trustee of a charitable 
organization, and Unisys donates less than 1 percent of that 
organization’s charitable receipts.

Directors should not, except in rare circumstances approved
by the board, draw any consulting, legal or other fees from the
company. In no event shall any member of the audit com-
mittee receive any compensation from the company other
than directors’ fees.

Membership on the audit, compensation, and nominating
and corporate governance committees is limited to
independent directors.

Directors may not stand for election after age 70 or continue
to serve beyond the annual stockholders’ meeting following
the attainment of age 70.

Directors should volunteer to resign from the board upon a
change in position, including retirement, from the position
they held when they were elected to the board. The board,
through the nominating and corporate governance com-
mittee, will then make a determination whether continued
board membership is appropriate under the circumstances. In
addition, if the company’s chief executive officer resigns from
that position, he is expected to offer his resignation from the
board at the same time.

The nominating and corporate governance committee is
responsible for determining the appropriate skills and char-
acteristics required of board members in the context of its
current makeup and will consider factors such as indepen-
dence, experience, strength of character, mature judgment,
technical skills, diversity and age in its assessment of the
needs of the board.

The company should maintain an orientation program for
new directors and continuing education programs for all
directors.

The board will conduct an annual self-evaluation to determine
whether it and its  committees are functioning effectively.

The nonmanagement directors should meet in executive ses-
sion, without the chief executive officer and other members of
management, on a regularly scheduled basis. They may also
meet in executive session at any time upon request. The posi-
tion of presiding director for these executive sessions will
rotate, meeting by meeting, among the chairpersons of the
audit, compensation and finance committees.

The nonmanagement directors will evaluate the perfor-
mance of the chief executive officer annually and will meet
in executive session, led by the chairperson of the compen-
sation committee, to review this performance. The evalua-
tion is based on objective criteria, including performance of
the business, accomplishment of long-term strategic objec-
tives and development of management. Based on this evalu-
ation the compensation committee will recommend, and
the independent members of the board will determine and
approve, the compensation of the chief executive officer.

To assist the board in its planning for the succession to the
position of chief executive officer, the chief executive officer is
expected to provide an annual report on succession planning
to the compensation committee.

Board members have complete access to Unisys management.
Members of senior management who are not board members
regularly attend board meetings, and the board encourages
senior management, from time to time, to bring into board
meetings other managers who can provide additional insights
into the matters under discussion.

The board and its committees have the right at any time to
retain independent outside financial, legal or other advisers.
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Our board of directors has adopted corporate governance 
guidelines that cover, among other things, the following:
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Unisys has been selected for the second year in a row as a component in the Dow Jones Sustainability World Indexes (DJSI
World). The selection recognizes the company's leadership in economic, environmental and social business factors that are
key to creating long-term stockholder value. Unisys is one of 300 companies globally that are part of the DJSI World and
one of 28 technology companies worldwide represented in the index.

Note: For the full text of committee charters and governance guidelines, as well as more information on corporate governance, see our Web site:
http://www.unisys.com/investor.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

In recent years the company has undertaken a major repositioning of its business model, its portfolio and its employee
skills set to strengthen its capabilities as a services-led solutions provider. The objective of this repositioning is to
capitalize on emerging growth opportunities in the information technology (“IT”) services market and deliver
consistent, profitable growth for its stockholders.

Recognizing the growing need in the marketplace for IT services and solutions that help clients reduce costs and
enhance their competitiveness, the company has pursued services opportunities in business process outsourcing,
systems integration and consulting, enterprise security, and other service areas. The company has grown its base of
long-term outsourcing contracts that provide a reliable base of annuity revenue over multiple years. Through recruiting
and training efforts, the company has strengthened its skills and capabilities in systems integration and consulting to
capture higher-margin business opportunities in focused vertical industries. The company has also strengthened its
capabilities in enterprise security to capitalize on the growing need by organizations to enhance their security profile
against physical and electronic threats. In its technology business, the company has focused on high-end enterprise
server technology that offers attractive margins, while de-emphasizing low-end products where margins have been
under pressure due to technology commoditization. Across all of these areas, management has focused on improving
its margins by pursuing value-added business and by tightly controlling costs.

These efforts have enabled the company to deliver consistent financial results during a highly volatile period for
the IT industry overall. In 2003 the company reported strong growth in net income and earnings per share, building on
its profit growth in 2002. The company has achieved this earnings growth despite the impact of pension accounting,
which has resulted in a significant decline in pension income in 2003 and 2002. The company’s focus on value-added
business and tight cost control has also resulted in a substantial increase in operational cash flow in recent years. The
company’s management has placed a strong emphasis on generating cash flow, which resulted in significant operating
cash flow in 2003.

In 2004, the company plans to maintain its focus on the areas discussed above and continue to build its capabilities
as a leading provider of value-added services and high-end server technology to the IT marketplace.

Results of operations

Company results

In 2003, the company reported net income of $258.7 million, or $.78 per diluted share, compared with $223.0 million,
or $.69 per share in 2002, and a net loss of $67.1 million, or $.21 per share, in 2001. The results for 2001 include a fourth-
quarter pretax charge of $276.3 million, or $.64 per share, principally for a work-force reduction. See Note 5 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue for 2003 was $5.91 billion compared with $5.61 billion in 2002 and $6.02 billion in 2001. Revenue in 2003
increased 5% from the prior year. This increase was due to an increase of 9% in Services revenue offset in part by an 8%
decline in Technology revenue. Foreign currency fluctuations had a 4% positive impact on revenue in 2003 compared
with 2002. Revenue in 2002 decreased 7% from the prior year. The decrease was due to a decline in Technology revenue
of 16% as well as a 4% decline in Services revenue. Foreign currency fluctuations had a negligible impact on revenue in
2002. Revenue from international operations in 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $3.15 billion, $3.11 billion and $3.42 billion,
respectively. Revenue from U.S. operations was $2.76 billion in 2003, $2.50 billion in 2002 and $2.60 billion in 2001.

Total gross profit percent was 29.0% in 2003, 30.1% in 2002, and 24.6% in 2001. The decrease in gross profit percent
in 2003 principally reflected a decline in pension income as described below. The increase in gross profit in 2002 from
2001 was principally due to the company’s focus on higher value-added business opportunities and continued tight cost
controls, including the personnel reduction actions taken in 2001 and 2002.

Unisys Corporation
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Selling, general and administrative expenses were $1.01 billion in 2003 (17.0% of revenue), $.99 billion in 2002 (17.7%
of revenue), and $1.16 billion in 2001 (19.2% of revenue). The increase in 2003 from 2002 was principally due to lower
pension income and foreign currency translations, offset in part by continued tight cost controls. The decrease in 2002
from 2001, net of the impacts of the fourth-quarter charge in 2001, reflected the benefits of the personnel reduction actions
announced in the fourth quarter of 2001 and continued tight cost controls.

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses in 2003 were $280.1 million compared with $273.3 million in 2002 and
$331.5 million in 2001. The company continues to invest in high-end Cellular MultiProcessing (CMP) server technology
and in key programs within its industry practices.

In 2003, the company reported operating income of $427.7 million, or 7.2% of revenue, compared with operating
income of $423.2 million, or 7.5% of revenue in 2002 and an operating loss of $4.5 million in 2001.

Interest expense was $69.6 million in 2003, $66.5 million in 2002 and $70.0 million in 2001. The increase in 2003 was
due to higher average borrowings. The decline in 2002 was principally due to lower average borrowings and lower average
interest rates.

Other income (expense), net, which can vary from year to year, was income of $22.4 million in 2003, an expense of
$23.9 million in 2002 and income of $1.5 million in 2001. The difference in 2003 from 2002 was principally due to equity
income of $18.3 million in 2003 compared with a loss of $12.4 million in 2002. Specifically, in 2003 the company recognized
$12.2 million income related to its share of a subsidy recorded by Nihon Unisys, Ltd. (“NUL”) upon transfer of a portion of
its pension plan obligation to the Japanese government. In 2002, the company recognized a charge of $21.8 million related
to its share of an early retirement charge recorded by NUL. In addition in 2003, the company recorded $10.7 million of
income related to minority investors’ share of losses of companies owned 51% by the company, compared with $.3 million
in 2002. Partially offsetting these items were foreign exchange losses in 2003 of $11.3 million compared with losses in 2002
of $1.2 million. The lower other income (expense), net in 2002 from 2001 was principally due to foreign exchange losses of
$1.2 million in 2002 compared with foreign exchange gains of $21.4 million in 2001 (principally due to Latin America),
equity investment losses of $12.4 million in 2002 (principally due to the $21.8 million charge relating to the NUL early
retirement charge discussed above) compared with equity income of $10.4 million in 2001. In addition, in 2001, the
company recorded a charge of $26.5 million related to the early extinguishment of debt.

Pension income for 2003 was $22.6 million compared with $143.5 million in 2002 and $170.0 million in 2001. At the
beginning of each year, accounting rules require that the company establish an expected long-term rate of return on its
pension plan assets. The principal reason for the decline in pension income in 2003 was that, effective January 1, 2003, the
company reduced its expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for its U.S. pension plan to 8.75% from 9.50%. In
addition, the discount rate used for the U.S. pension plan declined to 6.75% at December 31, 2002, from 7.50% at December 31,
2001. The remaining reasons for the decline in pension income were lower expected return on U.S. plan assets due to asset
declines and the company’s change as of January 1, 2003 to a cash balance plan in the U.S. Additionally for international plans,
declines in discount rates, lower expected long-term rates of return on plan assets, and currency translation contributed to
lower pension income. The principal reason for the decline in pension income in 2002 was that, effective January 1, 2002, the
company reduced its expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for its U.S. pension plan to 9.5% from 10.0%. The
company records pension income or expense, as well as other employee-related costs such as FICA and medical insurance
costs, in operating income in the following income statement categories: cost of sales, selling, general and administrative
expenses, and research and development expenses. The amount allocated to each line is based on where the salaries of the
active employees are charged.

Income before income taxes in 2003 was $380.5 million compared with $332.8 million in 2002 and a loss of $73.0
million in 2001.

The provision for income taxes in 2003 was $121.8 million (32% effective tax rate) compared with $109.8 million (33%
effective tax rate) in 2002 and $(5.9) million in 2001. It is expected that the effective tax rate will be 32% for 2004.

At December 31, 2003, the company owned approximately 28% of the voting common stock of NUL. The company
accounts for this investment by the equity method. NUL is the exclusive supplier of the company’s hardware and software
products in Japan. The company considers its investment in NUL to be of a long-term strategic nature. For the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, total direct and indirect sales to NUL were approximately $275 million, $270 million and
$340 million, respectively.
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At December 31, 2003, the market value of the company’s investment in NUL was approximately $258 million and
the amount of this investment recorded on the company’s books was $152 million, which is net of $74 million relating
to the company’s share of NUL’s minimum pension liability adjustment. The market value is determined by both the
quoted price per share of NUL’s shares on the Tokyo stock exchange and the current exchange rate of the Japanese yen
to the U.S. dollar. At any point in time, the company’s book value may be higher or lower than the market value. The
company would reflect impairment in this investment only if the loss in value of the investment were deemed to be
other than a temporary decline.

Segments results

The company has two business segments: Services and Technology. Revenue classifications by segment are as
follows: Services – systems integration and consulting, outsourcing, infrastructure services and core maintenance;
Technology – enterprise-class servers and specialized technologies. The accounting policies of each business segment
are the same as those followed by the company as a whole. Intersegment sales and transfers are priced as if the sales
or transfers were to third parties. Accordingly, the Technology segment recognizes intersegment revenue and
manufacturing profit on hardware and software shipments to customers under Services contracts. The Services
segment, in turn, recognizes customer revenue and marketing profit on such shipments of company hardware and
software to customers. The Services segment also includes the sale of hardware and software products sourced from
third parties that are sold to customers through the company’s Services channels. In the company’s consolidated
statements of income, the manufacturing costs of products sourced from the Technology segment and sold to
Services customers are reported in cost of revenue for Services.

Also included in the Technology segment’s sales and operating profit are sales of hardware and software sold to
the Services segment for internal use in Services agreements. The amount of such profit included in operating
income of the Technology segment for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, was $24.4 million, $19.2
million and $21.8 million, respectively. The profit on these transactions is eliminated in Corporate.

The company evaluates business segment performance on operating income exclusive of restructuring charges
and unusual and nonrecurring items, which are included in Corporate. All other corporate and centrally incurred
costs are allocated to the business segments based principally on revenue, employees, square footage or usage. See
Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Information by business segment for 2003, 2002 and 2001 is presented below:

(Millions of dollars) Total Eliminations Services Technology

2003
Customer revenue $5,911.2 $4,691.9 $1,219.3
Intersegment $ (319.8) 25.9 293.9

Total revenue $5,911.2 $ (319.8) $4,717.8 $1,513.2
Gross profit percent 29.0% 20.2% 50.4%
Operating income percent 7.2% 5.0% 12.7%

2002
Customer revenue $5,607.4 $4,285.1 $1,322.3
Intersegment $ (331.9) 38.8 293.1

Total revenue $5,607.4 $ (331.9) $4,323.9 $1,615.4
Gross profit percent 30.1% 22.2% 46.5%
Operating income percent 7.5% 5.9% 11.7%

2001
Customer revenue $6,018.1 $4,444.6 $1,573.5
Intersegment $ (363.4) 73.8 289.6

Total revenue $6,018.1 $ (363.4) $4,518.4 $1,863.1
Gross profit percent 24.6% 19.7% 43.0%
Operating income percent 4.5% 2.1% 11.6%

Gross profit percent and operating income percent are as a percent of total revenue.
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In the Services segment, customer revenue was $4.69 billion in 2003, $4.29 billion in 2002 and $4.44 billion in
2001. Revenue in 2003 was up 9% from 2002, principally due to a 17% increase in outsourcing ($1.68 billion in 2003
compared with $1.44 billion in 2002), a 10% increase in systems integration and consulting ($1.60 billion in 2003
compared with $1.46 billion in 2002), a 1% increase in infrastructure services ($.84 billion in 2003 compared with
$.83 billion in 2002) and a 3% increase in core maintenance ($.57 billion in 2003 compared with $.56 billion in
2002). Revenue in 2002 was down 4% from 2001, as an 11% increase in outsourcing ($1.44 billion in 2002 compared
with $1.30 billion in 2001) was more than offset by a 24% decline in infrastructure services ($.83 billion in 2002
compared with $1.09 billion in 2001) and a 4% decline in core maintenance revenue ($.56 billion in 2002  compared
with $.58 billion in 2001). Systems integration and consulting revenue in 2002 was $1.46 billion compared with $1.47
billion in 2001. In 2003, the systems integration business benefited from growth in the company’s U.S. Federal
government business. Throughout the three years, outsourcing revenue continued to grow as the company
continues to expand this business. The growth in outsourcing revenue was particularly driven by growth in business
process outsourcing. Within the Services segment, the change in revenue in 2002 from 2001 reflected then-current
market conditions, as well as the company’s de-emphasis of low-margin commodity hardware sales within
infrastructure services contracts. Services gross profit was 20.2% in 2003, 22.2% in 2002 and 19.7% in 2001, and
operating income percent was 5.0% in 2003, 5.9% in 2002 and 2.1% in 2001. The decline in gross profit and
operating income margins in 2003 were principally due to a lower pension income compared with 2002. The
company achieved the margin improvements in 2002 compared with 2001 by executing its strategy of selectively
pursuing higher value-added business opportunities, growing its annuity-based outsourcing business and resizing 
its workforce to meet the market demand.

In the Technology segment, customer revenue was $1.22 billion in 2003, $1.32 billion in 2002 and $1.57 billion in
2001. Demand throughout the period in the Technology segment remained weak industry-wide as customers
deferred spending on new computer hardware and software. Revenue in 2003 was down 8% from 2002, due to a 21%
decrease in sales of specialized technology products ($.29 billion in 2003 compared with $.37 billion in 2002) and a
3% decline in sales of enterprise-class servers ($.93 billion in 2003 compared with $.96 billion in 2002). The 8%
decline in Technology customer revenue in 2003 as well as the 16% decline in customer revenue in 2002 reflected the
impact of the global downturn in information technology spending on sales of high-end server products, as well as
lower commodity hardware sales as a result of the company’s decision to de-emphasize sales of these products.
Technology gross profit percent was 50.4% in 2003, 46.5% in 2002 and 43.0% in 2001, and Technology operating
income percent was 12.7 % in 2003, 11.7% in 2002 and 11.6% in 2001. The margin improvements in 2003 primarily
reflected a richer mix of ClearPath servers and software offset in part by lower pension income. The margin
improvements in 2002 primarily reflected, within ClearPath revenue, a higher proportion of high-end, higher
margin products, increased demand for high-end payment systems products and continued tight cost controls.

New accounting pronouncements

Effective January 1, 2003, the company adopted SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64,
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” SFAS No. 145 rescinds SFAS No. 4, which
required that all gains and losses from extinguishment of debt be reported as an extraordinary item. Previously
recorded losses on the early extinguishment of debts that were classified as an extraordinary item in prior periods
have been reclassified to other income (expense), net. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 had no effect on the company’s
consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

Effective January 1, 2003, the company adopted SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities.” SFAS No. 146 requires companies to recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities
when they are incurred rather than at the date of commitment to an exit or disposal plan. SFAS No. 146 replaces
previous accounting guidance provided by Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain
Costs Incurred in a Restructuring),” and is effective for the company for exit or disposal activities initiated after
December 31, 2002. Adoption of this statement had no material impact on the company’s consolidated financial
position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.
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Effective January 1, 2003, the company adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”)
Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an Interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of
FASB Interpretation No. 34” (“FIN 45”). The interpretation requires that upon issuance of a guarantee, the entity
must recognize a liability for the fair value of the obligation it assumes under that guarantee. In addition, FIN 45
requires disclosures about the guarantees that an entity has issued, including a roll-forward of the entity’s product
warranty liabilities. This interpretation is intended to improve the comparability of financial reporting by requiring
identical accounting for guarantees issued with separately identified consideration and guarantees issued without
separately identified consideration. Adoption of this Interpretation had no material impact on the company’s
consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

Effective July 1, 2003, the company adopted the FASB’s consensus on EITF Issue No. 00-21, “Accounting for
Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” This issue addresses how to account for arrangements that may
involve the delivery or performance of multiple products, services, and/or rights to use assets. The final consensus of
this issue is applicable to agreements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. Adoption of this
issue had no material impact on the company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations,
or liquidity.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,
an interpretation of ARB 51.” The primary objectives of this interpretation are to provide guidance on the
identification of entities for which control is achieved through means other than through voting rights (“variable
interest entities”) and how to determine when and which business enterprise (the “primary beneficiary”) should
consolidate the variable interest entity. This new model for consolidation applies to an entity in which either (i) the
equity investors (if any) do not have a controlling financial interest; or (ii) the equity investment at risk is
insufficient to finance that entity’s activities without receiving additional subordinated financial support from other
parties. In addition, FIN 46 requires that the primary beneficiary, as well as all other enterprises with a significant
variable interest in a variable interest entity, make additional disclosures. Certain disclosure requirements of FIN 46
were effective for financial statements issued after January 31, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46
(revised December 2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46-R”) to address certain FIN 46
implementation issues. The effective dates and impact of FIN 46 and FIN 46-R are as follows: (i) Special-purpose
entities (“SPEs”) created prior to February 1, 2003. The company must apply either the provisions of FIN 46 or early
adopt the provisions of FIN 46-R at the end of the first interim or annual reporting period ending after December
15, 2003. (ii) Non-SPEs created prior to February 1, 2003. The company is required to adopt FIN 46-R at the end of
the first interim or annual reporting period ending after March 15, 2004. (iii) All entities, regardless of whether an
SPE, that were created subsequent to January 31, 2003. The provisions of FIN 46 were applicable for variable interests
in entities obtained after January 31, 2003. The adoption of the provisions applicable to SPEs and all other variable
interests obtained after January 31, 2003 did not have a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial
position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity. The company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting
FIN 46-R applicable to Non-SPEs created prior to February 1, 2003 but does not expect a material impact.

In May 2003, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-5, “Applicability of AICPA Statement of Position 
97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, to Non-Software Deliverables in an Arrangement Containing More-Than-
Incidental Software.” The FASB ratified this consensus in August 2003. EITF Issue No. 03-5 affirms that AICPA
Statement of Position 97-2 applies to non-software deliverables, such as hardware and services, in an arrangement if
the software is essential to the functionality of the non-software deliverables. The adoption of EITF Issue No. 03-5
did not have a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations,
or liquidity.

Effective January 1, 2002, the company adopted SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.”
This statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for legal obligations associated with the retirement of
tangible long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development and normal operation of a
long-lived asset. SFAS No. 143 requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be
recognized in the period in which it is incurred, if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. The associated
asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset and subsequently
allocated to expense over the asset’s useful life. Adoption of SFAS No. 143 had no effect on the company’s
consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.
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Effective January 1, 2002, the company adopted SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets.” This statement addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived
assets. SFAS No. 144 requires an impairment loss to be recognized only if the carrying amounts of long-lived assets to be
held and used are not recoverable from their expected undiscounted future cash flows. Adoption of SFAS No. 144 had no
effect on the company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

Financial condition

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2003 were $635.9 million compared with $301.8 million at December 31, 2002.
During 2003, cash provided by operations was $529.2 million compared with $324.5 million in 2002, principally

reflecting strong working capital management and an increase in profitability. Cash expenditures related to prior-year
restructuring actions (which are included in operating activities) in 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $58.4 million, $104.4
million and $71.5 million, respectively, and are expected to be approximately $10 million in 2004, principally for
international work-force reductions and facility costs. Personnel reductions in 2003 related to prior-year restructuring
actions were approximately 500. No additional personnel reductions are expected related to prior-year restructuring
actions.

Cash used for investing activities in 2003 was $468.8 million compared with $379.2 million in 2002. During 2003,
both proceeds from investments and purchases of investments, which represent derivative financial instruments used
to manage the company’s currency exposure to market risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
increased from the prior year as a result of an increase in the company’s exposure, principally related to intercompany
accounts. The increase in cash used for investing activities was due to net purchases of investments of $68.1 million for
2003 compared with $38.3 million in the prior-year period. In addition in 2003, the investment in marketable software
was $144.1 million compared with $139.9 million in 2002, and capital additions were $251.3 million in 2003 compared
with $196.2 million in 2002. The increase in capital additions principally reflected additions of revenue-generating
assets, particularly in the company’s outsourcing business.

Cash provided by financing activities during 2003 was $255.5 million compared with $25.3 million in 2002. In 2003,
the company had net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt of $293.3 million, as described below. In addition,
during 2003, there was a reduction of $64.5 million in short-term borrowings compared with a reduction of $1.6
million in 2002.

In March 2003, the company issued $300 million of 6 7/8% senior notes due 2010. At December 31, 2003, total debt
was $1.1 billion, an increase of $238.5 million from December 31, 2002. See Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for components of the company’s long-term debt.

The company has a $500 million credit agreement that expires in May 2006. As of December 31, 2003, there were
no borrowings under this facility, and the entire $500 million was available for borrowings. Borrowings under the
agreement bear interest based on the then-current LIBOR or prime rates and the company’s credit rating. The credit
agreement contains financial and other covenants, including maintenance of certain financial ratios, a minimum level
of net worth and limitations on certain types of transactions, which could reduce the amount the company is able to
borrow. Events of default under the credit agreement include failure to perform covenants, material adverse change,
change of control and default under other debt aggregating at least $25 million. If an event of default were to occur
under the credit agreement, the lenders would be entitled to declare all amounts borrowed under it immediately due
and payable. The occurrence of an event of default under the credit agreement could also cause the acceleration of
obligations under certain other agreements and the termination of the company’s U.S. trade accounts receivable
facility, described below.

In addition, the company and certain international subsidiaries have access to certain uncommitted lines of credit
from various banks. Other sources of short-term funding are operational cash flows, including customer prepayments,
and the company’s U.S. trade accounts receivable facility. Using this facility, the company sells, on an ongoing basis, up to
$225 million of its eligible U.S. trade accounts receivable through a wholly owned subsidiary, Unisys Funding Corporation I.
The facility is renewable annually at the purchasers’ option and expires in December 2006. See Note 6 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

At December 31, 2003, the company had short-term borrowings of $17.7 million, borrowed principally by
international subsidiaries, at a weighted average interest rate at December 31 of 7.4%.
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As more fully described in Note 13 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the company could have
an additional obligation under an operating lease for one of its facilities.

At December 31, 2003, the company had outstanding standby letters of credit and surety bonds of approximately
$280 million related to performance and payment guarantees. On the basis of experience with these arrangements,
the company believes that any obligations that may arise will not be material.

The company may, from time to time, redeem, tender for, or repurchase its securities in the open market or in
privately negotiated transactions depending upon availability, market conditions, and other factors.

The company has on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission an effective registration statement
covering $1.2 billion of debt or equity securities, which enables the company to be prepared for future market
opportunities.

Stockholders’ equity increased $539.2 million during 2003, principally reflecting a reduction in the minimum
pension liability adjustment of $164.8 million, currency translation of $65.3 million, net income of $258.7 million,
$50.6 million for issuance of stock under stock option and other plans, and $4.9 million of tax benefits related to
employee stock plans.

Market risk

The company has exposure to interest rate risk from its short-term and long-term debt. In general, the company’s
long-term debt is fixed rate, and the short-term debt is variable rate. See Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for components of the company’s long-term debt. The company believes that the market risk
assuming a hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates would not be material to the fair value of these financial
instruments, or the related cash flows, or future results of operations.

The company is also exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risks. The company uses derivative financial
instruments to reduce its exposure to market risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The derivative
instruments used are foreign exchange forward contracts and foreign exchange options. See Note 14 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the company’s derivative financial instruments.

The company has performed a sensitivity analysis assuming a hypothetical 10% adverse movement in foreign
currency exchange rates applied to these derivative financial instruments described above. As of December 31, 2003
and 2002, the analysis indicated that such market movements would have reduced the estimated fair value of these
derivative financial instruments by approximately $58 million and $45 million, respectively.

Based on changes in the timing and amount of interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate movements and
the company’s actual exposures and hedges, actual gains and losses in the future may differ from the above analysis.

At December 31, 2003, the company met all covenants and conditions under its various lending and funding
agreements. Since the company believes that it will continue to meet these covenants and conditions, the company
believes that it has adequate sources and availability of short-term funding to meet its expected cash requirements.

As described more fully in Notes 5, 10 and 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, at December 31,
2003 the company had certain cash obligations, which are due as follows:

(Millions) Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 years

Notes payable $ 17.7 $ 17.7
Long-term debt 1,050.0 $550.0 $200.0 $300.0
Capital lease obligations 5.6 2.2 2.2 1.2
Operating leases 657.0 130.0 184.8 116.7 225.5
Minimum purchase obligations 20.0 10.0 10.0
Work-force reductions 5.8 5.0 .8

Total $1,756.1 $164.9 $747.8 $317.9 $525.5
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Critical accounting policies

Outsourcing

In recent years, the company’s outsourcing business has increased significantly. Typically the terms of these contracts
are between three and 10 years. In a number of these arrangements, the company hires certain of the customers’
employees and often becomes responsible for the related employee obligations, such as pension and severance
commitments. In addition, system development activity on outsourcing contracts may require significant upfront
investments by the company. The company funds these investments, and any employee-related obligations, from
customer prepayments and operating cash flow. Also, in the early phases of these contracts, gross margins may be
lower than in later years when the work force and facilities have been rationalized for efficient operations, and an
integrated systems solution has been implemented.

Revenue under these contracts is recognized when the company performs the services or processes transactions
in accordance with contractual performance standards. Customer prepayments (even if nonrefundable) are deferred
(classified as a liability) and recognized systematically over future periods as services are delivered or performed.

Costs on outsourcing contracts are generally charged to expense as incurred. However, direct costs incurred
related to the inception of an outsourcing contract are deferred and charged to expense over the contract term.
These costs consist principally of initial customer setup and employment obligations related to employees assumed.
In addition, the costs of equipment and software, some of which is internally developed, is capitalized and
depreciated over the shorter of their life or the term of the contract.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the net capitalized amount related to outsourcing contracts was $477.5 million,
and $321.0 million, respectively. These costs are tested for recoverability quarterly.

Systems integration

For long-term systems integration contracts, the company recognizes revenue and profit as the contracts progress using
the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, which relies on estimates of total expected contract revenues and
costs. The company follows this method since reasonably dependable estimates of the revenue and costs applicable to
various elements of a contract can be made. Since the financial reporting of these contracts depends on estimates,
which are assessed continually during the term of the contracts, recognized revenue and profit are subject to revisions
as the contract progresses to completion. Revisions in profit estimates are reflected in the period in which the facts that
give rise to the revision become known. Accordingly, favorable changes in estimates result in additional revenue and
profit recognition, and unfavorable changes in estimates result in a reduction of recognized revenue and profit. When
estimates indicate that a loss will be incurred on a contract upon completion, a provision for the expected loss is
recorded in the period in which the loss becomes evident. As work progresses under a loss contract, revenue continues
to be recognized, and a portion of the contract costs incurred in each period is charged to the contract loss reserve. For
other systems integration projects, the company recognizes revenue when the services have been performed.

Taxes

The company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which
requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary
differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 109 also requires that deferred
tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance, if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred
tax asset will not be realized.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the company had deferred tax assets in excess of deferred tax liabilities of $2,034
million and $2,178 million, respectively. For the reasons cited below, at December 31, 2003 and 2002, management
determined that it is more likely than not that $1,583 million and $1,726 million, respectively, of such assets will be
realized, resulting in a valuation allowance of $451 million and $452 million, respectively.

The company evaluates quarterly the realizability of its deferred tax assets by assessing its valuation allowance
and by adjusting the amount of such allowance, if necessary. The factors used to assess the likelihood of realization
are the company’s forecast of future taxable income and available tax planning strategies that could be implemented
to realize the net deferred tax assets. The company has used tax planning strategies to realize or renew net deferred
tax assets in order to avoid the potential loss of future tax benefits.
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Approximately $4.8 billion of future taxable income (predominately U.S.) ultimately is needed to realize the net
deferred tax assets at December 31, 2003. Failure to achieve forecasted taxable income might affect the ultimate
realization of the net deferred tax assets. Factors that may affect the company’s ability to achieve sufficient forecasted
taxable income include, but are not limited to, the following: increased competition, a decline in sales or margins,
loss of market share, delays in product availability or technological obsolescence.

In addition, the company operates within multiple taxing jurisdictions and is subject to audit in these
jurisdictions. These audits can involve complex issues, which may require an extended period of time to resolve.
In management’s opinion, adequate provisions for income taxes have been made for all years.

Pensions

The company accounts for its defined benefit pension plans in accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting
for Pensions,” which requires that amounts recognized in financial statements be determined on an actuarial basis.
As permitted by SFAS No. 87, the company uses a calculated value of plan assets (which is further described below).
SFAS No. 87 allows that the effects of the performance of the pension plan’s assets and changes in pension liability
discount rates on the company’s computation of pension income (expense) be amortized over future periods. A
substantial portion of the company’s pension amounts relates to its defined benefit plan in the United States.

A significant element in determining the company’s pension income (expense) in accordance with SFAS No. 87 
is the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. The company sets the expected long-term rate of return based
on the expected long-term return of the various asset categories in which it invests. The company considers the current
expectations for future returns and the actual historical returns of each asset class. Also, since the company's investment
policy is to actively manage certain asset classes where the potential exists to outperform the broader market, the
expected returns for those asset classes are adjusted to reflect the expected additional returns. For 2004 and 2003, the
company has assumed that the expected long-term rate of return on U.S. plan assets will be 8.75%. A change of 25 basis
points in the expected long-term rate of return for the company’s U.S. pension plan causes a change of approximately
$10 million in pension expense. The assumed long-term rate of return on assets is applied to a calculated value of plan
assets, which recognizes changes in the fair value of plan assets in a systematic manner over four years. This produces
the expected return on plan assets that is included in pension income (expense). The difference between this expected
return and the actual return on plan assets is deferred. The net deferral of past asset gains (losses) affects the calculated
value of plan assets and, ultimately, future pension income (expense). At December 31, 2003, for the company’s U.S.
defined benefit pension plan, the calculated value of plan assets was $4.48 billion compared with the fair value of plan
assets of $4.13 billion.

At the end of each year, the company determines the discount rate to be used to calculate the present value of plan
liabilities. The discount rate is an estimate of the current interest rate at which the pension liabilities could be effectively
settled at the end of the year. In estimating this rate, the company looks to rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income
investments that (i) receive one of the two highest ratings given by a recognized ratings agency and (ii) are currently
available and expected to be available during the period to maturity of the pension benefits. At December 31, 2003, the
company determined this rate to be 6.25% for its U.S. defined benefit pension plan, a decrease of 50 basis points from
the rate used at December 31, 2002. A change of 25 basis points in the U.S. discount rate causes a change in pension
expense of approximately $11 million and a change of approximately $105 million in the projected benefit obligation.
The net effect of changes in the discount rate, as well as the net effect of other changes in actuarial assumptions and
experience, have been deferred, as permitted by SFAS No. 87.

Management chose the above assumptions as to the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and the
discount rate with consultation from and concurrence of the company’s outside actuaries.

SFAS No. 87 defines gains and losses as changes in the amount of either the projected benefit obligation or plan
assets resulting from experience different from that assumed and from changes in assumptions. Because gains and
losses may reflect refinements in estimates as well as real changes in economic values and because some gains in one
period may be offset by losses in another and vice versa, SFAS No. 87 does not require recognition of gains and losses as
components of net pension cost of the period in which they arise.

As a minimum, amortization of an unrecognized net gain or loss must be included as a component of net pension
cost for a year if, as of the beginning of the year, that unrecognized net gain or loss exceeds 10 percent of the greater of
the projected benefit obligation or the calculated value of plan assets. If amortization is required, the minimum
amortization is that excess above the 10 percent divided by the average remaining service period of active employees 
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expected to receive benefits under the plan. For the company’s U.S. defined benefit pension plan, that period is
approximately nine years. At December 31, 2003, based on the calculated value of plan assets, the estimated
unrecognized loss was $1.25 billion.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, the company recognized consolidated pretax pension income of $22.6
million, compared with $143.5 million of consolidated pretax pension income for the year ended December 31, 2002.
Approximately $80 million of the decline was in the U.S., and $40 million was in international subsidiaries,
principally the plans in the United Kingdom. The reasons for the decline in the U.S. were as follows: (a) a reduction
in the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets from 9.50% to 8.75%, (b) a decline in the discount rate from
7.50% to 6.75%, (c) lower expected returns on plan assets due to lower assets than the prior year, and (d) the change
to a cash balance plan which was effective January 1, 2003. The decline in international plans was principally due to
declines in discount rates, lower expected long-term rates of returns on plan assets and currency translations.

For 2004, the company expects to recognize pension expense of approximately $85 million ($33 million of
expense in the U.S. and $52 million of expense in international plans). This would represent a change of
approximately $108 million from 2003, substantially all in the U.S. The change in the U.S. will be due to: (a) lower
expected returns on plan assets of approximately $35 million due to amortization of the difference between the
calculated value of plan assets and the fair value of plan assets, (b) a 50 basis-point reduction in the discount rate,
which causes an approximate $23 million increase in pension expense, and (c) an approximate $44 million increase
in amortization of net unrecognized losses.

During 2003, the company made cash contributions to its worldwide defined benefit pension plans of
approximately $63 million and expects to make cash contributions of approximately $66 million during 2004. In
accordance with regulations governing contributions to U.S. defined benefit pension plans, the company is not
required to fund its U.S. qualified defined benefit plan in 2004.

At December 31 of each year, accounting rules require a company to recognize a liability on its balance sheet for
each pension plan if the fair value of the assets of that pension plan is less than the present value of the pension
obligation (the accumulated benefit obligation, or “ABO”). This liability is called a “minimum pension liability.”
Concurrently, any existing prepaid pension asset for the pension plan must be removed. These adjustments are
recorded as a charge in “accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” in stockholders’ equity. If at any future
year-end, the fair value of the pension plan assets exceeds the ABO, the charge to stockholders’ equity would be
reversed for such plan. Alternatively, if the fair market value of pension plan assets experiences further declines or
the discount rate is reduced, additional charges to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) may be required
at a future year-end.

At December 31, 2002, for all of the company’s defined benefit pension plans, the ABO exceeded the fair value of
pension plan assets. At December 31, 2003, the difference between the ABO and the fair value of pension plan assets
decreased. As a result at December 31, 2003, the company adjusted its minimum pension liability as follows: decreased
its pension plan liabilities by approximately $300 million, increased its investments at equity by approximately 
$6 million relating to the company’s share of the change in NUL’s minimum pension liability, decreased prepaid
pension asset by $56 million, and offset these changes by a credit to other comprehensive income 
of approximately $250 million, or $165 million net of tax.

This accounting has no effect on the company’s net income, liquidity or cash flows. Financial ratios and net
worth covenants in the company’s credit agreements and debt securities are unaffected by charges or credits to
stockholders’ equity caused by adjusting a minimum pension liability.

Factors that may affect future results

From time to time, the company provides information containing “forward-looking” statements, as defined in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future
events and include any statement that does not directly relate to any historical or current fact. Words such as
“anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “projects” and similar expressions may identify such forward-
looking statements. All forward-looking statements rely on assumptions and are subject to risks, uncertainties and
other factors that could cause the company’s actual results to differ materially from expectations. These other factors
include, but are not limited to, those discussed below. Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on
which that statement is made. The company assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to
reflect events or circumstances that occur after the date on which the statement is made.
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The company’s business is affected by changes in general economic and business conditions. The company
continues to face a challenging economic environment. In this environment, many organizations are delaying
planned purchases of information technology products and services. If the level of demand for the company’s
products and services declines in the future, the company’s business could be adversely affected. The company’s
business could also be affected by acts of war, terrorism or natural disasters. Current world tensions could escalate
and this could have unpredictable consequences on the world economy and on our business.

The information services and technology markets in which the company operates include a large number of
companies vying for customers and market share both domestically and internationally. The company’s competitors
include systems integrators, consulting and other professional services firms, outsourcing providers, infrastructure
services providers, computer hardware manufacturers and software providers. Some of the company’s competitors
may develop competing products and services that offer better price-performance or that reach the market in
advance of the company’s offerings. Some competitors also have or may develop greater financial and other
resources than the company, with enhanced ability to compete for market share, in some instances through
significant economic incentives to secure contracts. Some also may be better able to compete for skilled
professionals. Any of these factors could have an adverse effect on the company’s business. Future results will depend
on the company’s ability to mitigate the effects of aggressive competition on revenues, pricing and margins and on
the company’s ability to attract and retain talented people.

The company operates in a highly volatile industry characterized by rapid technological change, evolving
technology standards, short product life cycles and continually changing customer demand patterns. Future success
will depend in part on the company’s ability to anticipate and respond to these market trends and to design, develop,
introduce, deliver or obtain new and innovative products and services on a timely and cost-effective basis. The
company may not be successful in anticipating or responding to changes in technology, industry standards or
customer preferences, and the market may not demand or accept its services and product offerings. In addition,
products and services developed by competitors may make the company’s offerings less competitive.

The company’s future results will depend in part on its ability to continue to accelerate growth in outsourcing
and infrastructure services. The company’s outsourcing contracts are multiyear engagements under which the
company takes over management of a client’s technology operations, business processes or networks. The company
will need to maintain a strong financial position in order to grow its outsourcing business. In a number of these
arrangements, the company hires certain of its clients’ employees and may become responsible for the related
employee obligations, such as pension and severance commitments.

In addition, system development activity on outsourcing contracts may require the company to make significant
upfront investments. As long-term relationships, these outsourcing contracts provide a base of recurring revenue.
However, in the early phases of these contracts, gross margins may be lower than in later years when the work force
and facilities have been rationalized for efficient operations, and an integrated systems solution has been
implemented. Future results will depend on the company’s ability to effectively complete the rationalizations and
solution implementations.

Future results will also depend in part on the company’s ability to drive profitable growth in systems integration
and consulting. The company’s systems integration and consulting business has been adversely affected by the
current economic slowdown. In this economic environment, customers have been delaying systems integration
projects. The company’s ability to grow profitably in this business will depend in part on an improvement in
economic conditions and a pick-up in demand for systems integration projects. It will also depend on the success of
the actions the company has taken to enhance the skills base and management team in this business and to refocus
the business on integrating best-of-breed, standards-based solutions to solve client needs. In addition, profit margins
in this business are largely a function of the rates the company is able to charge for services and the chargeability of
its professionals. If the company is unable to maintain the rates it charges, or appropriate chargeability, for its
professionals, profit margins will suffer. The rates the company is able to charge for services are affected by a number
of factors, including clients’ perception of the company’s ability to add value through its services; introduction of
new services or products by the company or its competitors; pricing policies of competitors; and general economic
conditions. Chargeability is also affected by a number of factors, including the company’s ability to transition
employees from completed projects to new engagements, and its ability to forecast demand for services and thereby
maintain an appropriate head count.



31

Future results will also depend, in part, on market acceptance of the company’s high-end enterprise servers. In
its technology business, the company is focusing its resources on high-end enterprise servers based on its Cellular
MultiProcessing (CMP) architecture. The company’s CMP servers are designed to provide mainframe-class
capabilities with compelling price-performance by making use of standards-based technologies such as Intel chips
and Microsoft operating system software. The company has transitioned both its legacy ClearPath servers and its
Intel-based ES7000s to the CMP platform, creating a common platform for all the company’s high-end server lines.
Future results will depend, in part, on customer acceptance of the new CMP-based ClearPath Plus systems and the
company’s ability to maintain its installed base for ClearPath and to develop next-generation ClearPath products
that are purchased by the installed base. In addition, future results will depend, in part, on the company’s ability to
generate new customers and increase sales of the Intel-based ES7000 line. The company believes there is significant
growth potential in the developing market for high-end, Intel-based servers running Microsoft operating system
software. However, competition in this new market is likely to intensify in coming years, and the company’s ability to
succeed will depend on its ability to compete effectively against enterprise server competitors with more substantial
resources and its ability to achieve market acceptance of the ES7000 technology by clients, systems integrators, and
independent software vendors.

A number of the company’s long-term contracts for infrastructure services, outsourcing, help desk and similar
services do not provide for minimum transaction volumes. As a result, revenue levels are not guaranteed. In
addition, some of these contracts may permit termination or may impose other penalties if the company does not
meet the performance levels specified in the contracts.

Some of the company’s systems integration contracts are fixed-priced contracts under which the company
assumes the risk for delivery of the contracted services and products at an agreed-upon fixed price. At times the
company has experienced problems in performing some of these fixed-price contracts on a profitable basis and has
provided periodically for adjustments to the estimated cost to complete them. Future results will depend on the
company’s ability to perform these services contracts profitably.

The company frequently enters into contracts with governmental entities. Risks and uncertainties associated
with these government contracts include the availability of appropriated funds and contractual provisions that allow
governmental entities to terminate agreements at their discretion before the end of their terms.

The success of the company’s business is dependent on strong, long-term client relationships and on its
reputation for responsiveness and quality. As a result, if a client is not satisfied with the company’s services or
products, its reputation could be damaged and its business adversely affected. In addition, if the company fails to
meet its contractual obligations, it could be subject to legal liability, which could adversely affect its business,
operating results and financial condition.

The company has commercial relationships with suppliers, channel partners and other parties that have
complementary products, services or skills. Future results will depend, in part, on the performance and capabilities
of these third parties, on the ability of external suppliers to deliver components at reasonable prices and in a timely
manner, and on the financial condition of, and the company’s relationship with, distributors and other indirect
channel partners.

Approximately 53% of the company’s total revenue derives from international operations. The risks of doing
business internationally include foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, changes in political or economic
conditions, trade protection measures, import or export licensing requirements, multiple and possibly overlapping
and conflicting tax laws, and weaker intellectual property protections in some jurisdictions.

The company cannot be sure that its services and products do not infringe on the intellectual property rights of
third parties, and it may have infringement claims asserted against it or against its clients. These claims could cost
the company money, prevent it from offering some services or products, or damage its reputation.
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Unisys Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31 (Millions, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001

Revenue

Services $4,691.9 $4,285.1 $4,444.6

Technology 1,219.3 1,322.3 1,573.5

5,911.2 5,607.4 6,018.1

Costs and expenses

Cost of revenue:

Services 3,654.7 3,244.9 3,624.6

Technology 541.5 674.0 910.2

4,196.2 3,918.9 4,534.8

Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,007.2 992.0 1,156.3

Research and development expenses 280.1 273.3 331.5

5,483.5 5,184.2 6,022.6

Operating income (loss) 427.7 423.2 (4.5)

Interest expense 69.6 66.5 70.0

Other income (expense), net 22.4 (23.9) 1.5

Income (loss) before income taxes 380.5 332.8 (73.0)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 121.8 109.8 (5.9)

Net income (loss) $ 258.7 $ 223.0 $ (67.1)

Earnings (loss) per share 

Basic $ .79 $ .69 $ (.21)

Diluted $ .78 $ .69 $ (.21)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements



Unisys Corporation

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31 (Millions) 2003 2002

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 635.9 $ 301.8
Accounts and notes receivable, net 1,027.8 955.6
Inventories:

Parts and finished equipment 121.7 165.3
Work in process and materials 116.9 127.5

Deferred income taxes 270.0 311.3
Other current assets 85.7 84.5

Total 2,258.0 1,946.0

Properties 1,352.7 1,282.4
Less – Accumulated depreciation and amortization 928.5 835.6

Properties, net 424.2 446.8

Outsourcing assets, net 477.5 321.0
Marketable software, net 332.2 311.8
Investments at equity 153.3 111.8
Prepaid pension cost 55.5 311.8
Deferred income taxes 1,384.6 1,476.0
Goodwill 177.5 160.6
Other long-term assets 211.8 207.4

Total $ 5,474.6 $ 4,981.4

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities
Notes payable $ 17.7 $ 77.3
Current maturities of long-term debt 2.2 4.4
Accounts payable 513.8 532.5
Other accrued liabilities 1,305.7 1,312.8
Income taxes payable 214.1 228.9

Total 2,053.5 2,155.9

Long-term debt 1,048.3 748.0
Accrued pension liability 433.6 727.7
Other long-term liabilities 544.0 493.8
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock 3.3 3.3
Accumulated deficit (414.8) (673.5)
Other capital 3,818.6 3,763.1
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,011.9) (2,236.9)

Stockholders’ equity 1,395.2 856.0

Total $ 5,474.6 $ 4,981.4

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31 (Millions) 2003 2002 2001

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss) $ 258.7 $ 223.0 $ (67.1)

Add (deduct) items to reconcile net income (loss) 
to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization of properties and outsourcing assets 219.0 176.8 156.0

Amortization:

Marketable software 123.6 121.0 145.5

Goodwill 16.5 16.5
Decrease (increase) in deferred income taxes, net 57.2 39.4 (44.4)
(Increase) decrease in receivables, net (67.7) 156.5 72.3
Decrease in inventories 54.1 53.0 79.7
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities (30.3) (129.2) (145.8)
Decrease in income taxes payable (4.8) (15.5) (58.0)
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities (70.9) (61.2) 247.8
Increase in other assets (50.9) (251.2) (238.8)
Other (19.4) 11.9 38.7

Net cash provided by operating activities 529.2 324.5 202.4

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from investments 5,054.0 3,447.1 3,028.7
Purchases of investments (5,122.1) (3,485.4) (3,009.0)
Investment in marketable software (144.1) (139.9) (136.8)
Capital additions of properties and outsourcing assets (251.3) (196.2) (199.4)
Purchases of businesses (5.3) (4.8) (9.1)

Net cash used for investing activities (468.8) (379.2) (325.6)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 293.3 536.5 536.5
Net reduction in short-term borrowings (64.5) (1.6) (127.7)
Proceeds from employee stock plans 31.5 29.0 33.6
Payments of long-term debt (4.8) (2.1) (370.8)

Net cash provided by financing activities 255.5 25.3 71.6

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 18.2 5.3 (.5)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 334.1 (24.1) (52.1)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 301.8 325.9 378.0

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 635.9 $ 301.8 $ 325.9

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



Unisys Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Other, Accumulated

Principally Other Comprehensive
Common Stock Accumulated        Treasury Stock Paid-In Comprehensive Income

(Millions) Shares Par Value Deficit Shares Cost Capital Loss (Loss)

Balance at December 31, 2000 317.3 $3.2 $ (829.4) (1.9) $(42.1) $3,698.1 $ (643.7)

Issuance of stock under stock
option and other plans 5.2 (.2) 52.2

Net loss (67.1) $ (67.1)

Other comprehensive loss:  

Translation adjustments (67.5)

Cash flow hedges 4.4

(63.1) (63.1)

Comprehensive loss $ (130.2)

Unearned compensation .2

Tax benefit related to stock plans 4.6

Balance at December 31, 2001 322.5 3.2 (896.5) (1.9) (42.3) 3,755.1 (706.8)

Issuance of stock under stock
option and other plans 5.6 .1 (.1) 46.9

Net income 223.0 $ 223.0

Other comprehensive loss:  

Translation adjustments (33.8)

Cash flow hedges (5.9)

Minimum pension liability (1,490.4)

(1,530.1) (1,530.1)

Comprehensive loss $(1,307.1)
Tax benefit related to stock plans 3.5

Balance at December 31, 2002 328.1 3.3 (673.5) (1.9) (42.4) 3,805.5 (2,236.9)

Issuance of stock under stock
option and other plans 5.7 .1 (.2) 50.8

Net income 258.7 $ 258.7

Other comprehensive income:

Translation adjustments  65.3 (73.3)

Cash flow hedges (5.1)

Minimum pension liability 164.8

225.0 225.0

Comprehensive income $ 483.7

Tax benefit related to stock plans 4.9

Balance at December 31, 2003 333.8 $3.3 $(414.8) (1.9) $(42.6) $3,861.2 $(2,011.9)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Unisys Corporation

company allocates the total revenue to be earned under the
arrangement among the various elements based on their 
relative fair value. For software, and elements for which soft-
ware is essential to the functionality, the allocation is based on
vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value. The company
recognizes revenue on multiple-element arrangements only if:
(i) any undelivered products or services are not essential to the
functionality of the delivered products or services, (ii) the com-
pany has an enforceable claim to receive the amount due in
the event it does not deliver the undelivered products or ser-
vices, (iii) there is evidence of the fair value for each undeliv-
ered product or service, and (iv) the revenue recognition
criteria otherwise have been met for the delivered elements.
For software arrangements with extended payment terms
beyond 12 months, the company generally recognizes rev-
enue at the inception of the arrangement, provided that the
arrangement meets the software revenue recognition criteria
discussed above, considering, among other things, the history
of successfully collecting under the original payment terms
without providing refunds or concessions.

Revenue from equipment and software maintenance is rec-
ognized on a straight-line basis as earned over the lives of the
respective contracts.

Revenue for operating leases is recognized on a monthly
basis over the term of the lease and for sales-type leases at
the inception of the lease term.

Revenue and profit under systems integration contracts are
recognized either on the percentage-of-completion method of
accounting using the cost-to-cost method, or when services
have been performed, depending on the nature of the project.
For contracts accounted for on the percentage-of-completion
basis, revenue and profit recognized in any given accounting
period are based on estimates of total projected contract
costs; the estimates are continually re-evaluated and revised,
when necessary, throughout the life of a contract. Any adjust-
ments to revenue and profit due to changes in estimates are
accounted for in the period of the change in estimate. When
estimates indicate that a loss will be incurred on a contract
upon completion, a provision for the expected loss is recorded
in the period in which the loss becomes evident.

Revenue from time and materials service contracts and out-
sourcing contracts is recognized as the services are provided. 
Income taxes Income taxes are provided on taxable
income at the statutory rates applicable to such income.
Deferred taxes have not been provided on the cumulative
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries because such
amounts are expected to be reinvested indefinitely.
Marketable software The cost of development of com-
puter software to be sold or leased, incurred subsequent to
establishment of technological feasibility, is capitalized and
amortized to cost of sales over the estimated revenue-
producing lives of the products, but not in excess of three
years following product release. 

Summary of significant 
accounting policies

Principles of consolidation The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of all majority-owned
subsidiaries. Investments in companies representing ownership
interests of 20% to 50% are accounted for by the equity method.
Use of estimates The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates and assumptions.
Cash equivalents All short-term investments purchased with
a maturity of three months or less are classified as cash equivalents.
Inventories Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or
market. Cost is determined principally on the first-in, first-out method.
Properties Properties are carried at cost and are
depreciated over the estimated lives of such assets using the
straight-line method. The principal depreciation rates used are
summarized below:

Rate per Year (%)

Buildings 2-5

Machinery and office equipment 5-25

Rental equipment 25

Internal-use software 12-33

Advertising costs The company expenses all adver-
tising costs as they are incurred. The amount charged to
expense during 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $17.9 million,
$29.3 million and $35.6 million, respectively.
Revenue recognition The company recognizes rev-
enue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable and
collectibility is probable.

Revenue from hardware sales is recognized upon ship-
ment and the passage of title. Outside the United States, the
company recognizes revenue even if it retains a form of title
to products delivered to customers, provided the sole pur-
pose is to enable the company to recover the products in the
event of customer payment default and the arrangement
does not prohibit the customer’s use of the product in the
ordinary course of business.

Revenue from software licenses is recognized at the
inception of the initial license term and upon execution of an
extension to the license term. Revenue for post-contract soft-
ware support arrangements, which are marketed separately,
is recorded on a straight-line basis over the support period for
multi-year contracts and at inception for contracts of one year
or less. The company also enters into multiple-element
arrangements, which may include any combination of hard-
ware, software or services. In these transactions, the 

1
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Outsourcing assets Costs on outsourcing contracts are
generally expensed as incurred. However, certain costs incurred
upon initiation of an outsourcing contract are deferred and
expensed over the contract life. These costs consist principally of
initial customer setup and employment obligations related to
employees assumed. Additionally, marketable software develop-
ment costs incurred to develop specific outsourcing application
software products are capitalized once technological feasibility
has been established. Capitalized software used in outsourcing
arrangements is amortized based on current and estimated
future revenue from the product. The amortization expense is
not less than straight-line amortization expense over the
product’s useful life. Fixed assets acquired in connection with
outsourcing contracts are capitalized and depreciated in accor-
dance with the fixed asset policy described above.  

Recoverability of outsourcing assets is subject to various busi-
ness risks, including the timely completion and ultimate cost of the
outsourcing solution, realization of expected profitability of existing
outsourcing contracts and obtaining additional outsourcing cus-
tomers. These risks could result in an impairment of a portion of
the associated assets, which are tested for recoverability quarterly.
Translation of foreign currency The local currency is
the functional currency for most of the company’s international
subsidiaries, and as such, assets and liabilities are translated into
U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates. Income and expense
items are translated at average exchange rates during the year.
Translation adjustments resulting from changes in exchange
rates are reported in other comprehensive income. All other
exchange gains and losses on intercompany balances are
reported in other income (expense), net.

For those international subsidiaries operating in hyper-
inflationary economies, the U.S. dollar is the functional
currency, and as such, nonmonetary assets and liabilities are
translated at historical exchange rates and monetary assets
and liabilities are translated at current exchange rates.
Exchange gains and losses arising from translation are
included in other income (expense), net.
Stock-based compensation plans The company 
has stock-based employee compensation plans, which are
described more fully in Note 17. The company applies the
recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No.
25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related
interpretations in accounting for those plans. For stock options,
no compensation expense is reflected in net income as all
stock options granted had an exercise price equal to or greater
than the market value of the underlying common stock on the
date of grant. In addition, no compensation expense is recog-
nized for common stock purchases under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan. Pro forma information regarding net income and
earnings per share is required by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” and has been determined as if
the company had accounted for its stock plans under the fair
value method of SFAS No. 123. For purposes of the pro forma
disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized

to expense over the options’ vesting period. The following
table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per
share if the company had applied the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS No. 123.

Year ended December 31
(Millions, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss) as reported $258.7 $ 223.0 $ (67.1)

Deduct total stock-based employee 
compensation expense determined 
under fair value method for all 
awards, net of tax (47.7) (49.0) (51.8)

Pro forma net income (loss) $211.0 $ 174.0 $(118.9)

Earnings (loss) per share

Basic – as reported $ .79 $ .69 $ (.21)

Basic – pro forma $ .64 $ .54 $ (.37)

Diluted – as reported $ .78 $ .69 $ (.21)

Diluted – pro forma $ .63 $ .54 $ (.37)

Retirement benefits The company accounts for its
defined benefit pension plans in accordance with SFAS No.
87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” which requires
that amounts recognized in financial statements be 
determined on an actuarial basis. A significant element in
determining the company’s pension income (expense) is
the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. This
expected return is an assumption as to the average rate of
earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested
to provide for the benefits included in the projected pen-
sion benefit obligation. The company applies this assumed
long-term rate of return to a calculated value of plan
assets, which recognizes changes in the fair value of plan
assets in a systematic manner over four years. This pro-
duces the expected return on plan assets that is included
in pension income (expense). The difference between this
expected return and the actual return on plan assets is
deferred. The net deferral of past asset gains (losses)
affects the calculated value of plan assets and, ultimately,
future pension income (expense).

At December 31 of each year, the company determines
the fair value of its pension plan assets as well as the dis-
count rate to be used to calculate the present value of plan
liabilities. The discount rate is an estimate of the interest
rate at which the pension benefits could be effectively set-
tled. In estimating the discount rate, the company looks to
rates of return on high-quality, fixed-income investments
currently available and expected to be available during the
period to maturity of the pension benefits. The company
specifically uses a portfolio of fixed-income securities,
which receive at least the second-highest rating given by a
recognized rating agency.
Reclassifications Certain prior-year amounts have
been reclassified to conform with the 2003 presentation.



3 Acquisitions and goodwill

In November 2003, the company purchased KPMG’s
Belgian consulting business for approximately $3.3
million of cash plus assumed liabilities. This business
provides consulting, systems integration, network
infrastructure, outsourcing and technology solutions.
The purchase price will be allocated to assets acquired
and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair
values. The preliminary allocation of the purchase
price assumes that the excess of the purchase price
over the assets acquired and liabilities assumed will
be allocated to goodwill. There can be no assurance
that this preliminary allocation will represent the final
purchase price allocation. The purchase price alloca-
tion will be finalized in the first quarter of 2004 after
finalization of appraisals.

Effective January 1, 2002, the company adopted
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
SFAS No. 142 no longer permits the amortization of
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. Instead,
these assets must be reviewed annually for impair-
ment in accordance with this statement. SFAS No.
142 requires a company to perform an impairment
test on an annual basis and whenever events or 
circumstances occur indicating that the goodwill may
be impaired. During 2003, the company performed 
its annual impairment test, which indicated that the 
company’s goodwill was not impaired.
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2
Earnings per share

The following table shows how earnings per share were computed for the three years ended December 31, 2003.

Year ended December 31 
(Millions, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001

Basic earnings (loss) per share computation

Net income (loss) $ 258.7 $ 223.0 $ (67.1)

Weighted average shares (thousands) 329,349 323,526 318,207

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ .799 $ .69 $ (.21)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share computation

Net income (loss) $ 258.7 $ 223.0 $ (67.1)

Weighted average shares (thousands) 329,349 323,526 318,207

Plus incremental shares from assumed conversions of

employee stock plans 3,599 1,218 3,536

Adjusted weighted average shares 332,948 324,744 318,207

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ .789 $ .69 $ (.21)

The following shares were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the option prices were above the average
market price of the company’s common stock, (in thousands): 2003, 22,005; 2002, 35,415; 2001, 28,653.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by
segment for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002, were as follows:

(Millions) Total Services Technology

Balance at 
December 31, 2001 $159.0 $41.9 $117.1

Acquisition 3.0 3.0

Foreign currency
translation adjustments (1.4) (2.4) 1.0

Balance at 
December 31, 2002 160.6 42.5 118.1

Acquisition 10.3 10.3

Foreign currency
translation adjustments 6.6 4.5 2.1

Balance at 
December 31, 2003 $177.5 $57.3 $120.2
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The company’s net income and earnings per share
adjusted to exclude goodwill amortization were as follows:

4

Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others, an Interpretation of FASB Statements
No. 5, 57, and 107 and Rescission of FASB Interpretation No.
34" ("FIN 45"). The interpretation requires that upon issuance of
a guarantee, the entity must recognize a liability for the fair
value of the obligation it assumes under that guarantee. In addi-
tion, FIN 45 requires disclosures about the guarantees that an
entity has issued, including a roll-forward of the entity’s product
warranty liabilities. This interpretation is intended to improve
the comparability of financial reporting by requiring identical
accounting for guarantees issued with separately identified 
consideration and guarantees issued without separately identi-
fied consideration. Adoption of this Interpretation had no mate-
rial impact on the company's consolidated financial position,
consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

Effective July 1, 2003, the company adopted the FASB’s
consensus on EITF Issue No. 00-21, “Accounting for Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” This issue
addresses how to account for arrangements that may involve
the delivery or performance of multiple products, services,
and/or rights to use assets. The final consensus of this issue
is applicable to agreements entered into in fiscal periods
beginning after June 15, 2003. Adoption of this issue had 
no material impact on the company’s consolidated financial
position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46
(“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an
interpretation of ARB 51.” The primary objectives of this inter-
pretation are to provide guidance on the identification of enti-
ties for which control is achieved through means other than
through voting rights (“variable interest entities”) and how to
determine when and which business enterprise (the “primary
beneficiary”) should consolidate the variable interest entity.
This new model for consolidation applies to an entity in which
either (i) the equity investors (if any) do not have a controlling
financial interest; or (ii) the equity investment at risk is insuffi-
cient to finance that entity’s activities without receiving addi-
tional subordinated financial support from other parties. In
addition, FIN 46 requires that the primary beneficiary, as well
as all other enterprises with a significant variable interest in a
variable interest entity, make additional disclosures. Certain
disclosure requirements of FIN 46 were effective for financial
statements issued after January 31, 2003. In December 2003,
the FASB issued FIN 46 (revised December 2003), “Consoli-
dation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46-R”) to address
certain FIN 46 implementation issues. The effective dates and
impact of FIN 46 and FIN 46-R are as follows: (i) Special-pur-
pose entities (“SPEs”) created prior to February 1, 2003. The
company must apply either the provisions of FIN 46 or early
adopt the provisions of FIN 46-R at the end of the first interim
or annual reporting period ending after December 15, 2003.
(ii) Non-SPEs created prior to February 1, 2003. 

Year ended December 31,
(Millions, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001

Reported net income (loss)  $ 258.7 $ 223.0    $(67.1)  

Add back goodwill amortization, 
net of tax         14.1 14.1

Adjusted net income (loss) $ 258.7 $ 223.0 $(53.0)

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic
As reported $ .79 $ .69 $ (.21)

Goodwill amortization .04 .04

As adjusted $ .79 $ .69 $ (.17)

Diluted
As reported $ .78 $ .69 $ (.21)
Goodwill amortization .04 .04

As adjusted $ .78 $ .69 $ (.17)

Accounting changes

Effective January 1, 2003, the company adopted SFAS
No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and
64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Tech-
nical Corrections.” SFAS No. 145 rescinds SFAS No. 4,
which required that all gains and losses from extinguish-
ment of debt be reported as an extraordinary item. Pre-
viously recorded losses on the early extinguishment of
debts that were classified as an extraordinary item in
prior periods have been reclassified to other income
(expense), net. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 had no
effect on the company’s consolidated financial position,
consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

Effective January 1, 2003, the company adopted
SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with
Exit or Disposal Activities.” SFAS No. 146 requires com-
panies to recognize costs associated with exit or dis-
posal activities when they are incurred rather than at the
date of a commitment to an exit or disposal plan. SFAS
No. 146 replaces previous accounting guidance provided
by Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3,
“Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination
Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including
Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring),” and is effec-
tive for the company for exit or disposal activities initi-
ated after December 31, 2002. Adoption of this
statement had no material impact on the company’s
consolidated financial position, consolidated results of
operations, or liquidity.

Effective January 1, 2003, the company adopted the
Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”) Interpre-
tation No. 45, "Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure 
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Fourth-quarter charges

2001 charge   In response to the weak economic environment
in 2001, the company took actions to reduce its cost structure. In
the fourth quarter of 2001, the company recorded a pretax charge
of $276.3 million, or $.64 per share, primarily for a work-force
reduction of approximately 3,750 people (1,700 in the United
States and 2,050 outside the United States). Of the total, 1,910
people left the company in 2001, which included 764 people who
accepted an early retirement program in the United States. For
those employees who accepted the early retirement program,
cash requirements were provided through the company’s pension
plan. These activities did not significantly affect the company’s
operations while they were ongoing. A further breakdown of the
individual components of these costs follows:

Work-Force       Idle 

Reductions(1) Lease 

($ in Millions)     Headcount       Total       U.S.      Int’l      Costs     Other(2)

Work-force

reductions(1)

Early retirement 764 $ 58.8 $ 58.8

Involuntary

reductions          3,001       145.9    18.8  $ 127.1

Subtotal        3,765 204.7 77.6 127.1

Other 71.6 $ 29.5     $ 42.1

Total charge      3,765       276.3    77.6   127.1 29.5 42.1

Utilized (1,910) (127.2) (62.5) (22.6) (42.1)

Balance at

Dec. 31, 2001 1,855 149.1 15.1 104.5 29.5 –

Additional
provisions 996 31.9 8.7 21.8 1.4

Utilized (1,890) (98.0) (13.4) (75.5) (9.1)

Reversal of
excess reserves (330) (20.2) (4.6) (12.4) (3.2)

Other(3) 4.8 1.6 5.3 (2.1)

Balance at
Dec. 31, 2002 631 67.6 7.4 43.7 16.5 –

Additional
provisions 4 2.2 8.7 .8 1.4

Utilized (523) (54.6) (7.6) (37.7) (9.3)

Reversal of
excess reserves (112) (4.6) (1.7) (2.9) (3.2)

Other(3) 1.3 2.2 .8 (1.7)

Balance at
Dec. 31, 2003 – $ 11.9 $ .3 $ 4.7 $ 6.9 $ –

Expected future
utilization:

2004 631 $ 8.8 $ .3 $ 3.9 $ 4.6

2005 and thereafter            3.1 .8 2.31

(1) Includes severance, notice pay, medical and other benefits.

(2) Includes product and program discontinuances, principally representing a provision 
for asset write-offs.

(3) Changes in estimates and translation adjustments.

The company is required to adopt FIN 46-R at the end of
the first interim or annual reporting period ending after
March 15, 2004. (iii) All entities, regardless of whether an
SPE, that were created subsequent to January 31, 2003.
The provisions of FIN 46 were applicable for variable
interests in entities obtained after January 31, 2003. The
adoption of the provisions applicable to SPEs and all
other variable interests obtained after January 31, 2003
did not have a material impact on the company’s consoli-
dated financial position, consolidated results of opera-
tions, or liquidity. The company is currently evaluating
the impact of adopting FIN 46-R applicable to Non-SPEs
created prior to February 1, 2003 but does not expect a
material impact. 

In May 2003, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue
No. 03-5, "Applicability of AICPA Statement of Position
97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, to Non-Software
Deliverables in an Arrangement Containing More-Than-
Incidental Software." The FASB ratified this consensus in
August 2003. EITF Issue No. 03-5 affirms that AICPA
Statement of Position 97-2 applies to non-software deliv-
erables, such as hardware and services, in an arrange-
ment if the software is essential to the functionality of
the non-software deliverables. The adoption of EITF
Issue No. 03-5 did not have a material impact on the
company’s consolidated financial position, consolidated
results of operations, or liquidity.

Effective January 1, 2002, the company adopted
SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obliga-
tions.” This statement addresses financial accounting
and reporting for legal obligations associated with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets that result from
the acquisition, construction, development and normal
operation of a long-lived asset. SFAS No. 143 requires
that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation be recognized in the period in which it is
incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be
made. The associated asset retirement costs are capital-
ized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived
asset and subsequently allocated to expense over the
asset’s useful life. Adoption of SFAS No. 143 had no
effect on the company’s consolidated financial position,
consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.

Effective January 1, 2002, the company adopted
SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Dis-
posal of Long-Lived Assets.” This statement addresses
financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or
disposal of long-lived assets. SFAS No. 144 requires an
impairment loss to be recognized only if the carrying
amounts of long-lived assets to be held and used are not
recoverable from their expected undiscounted future
cash flows. Adoption of SFAS No. 144 had no effect on
the company’s consolidated financial position, consoli-
dated results of operations, or liquidity.

5
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Most of the 2001 fourth-quarter charges were related to
work-force reductions ($204.7 million), principally sever-
ance costs. Other employee-related costs are not signifi-
cant. Approximately $58.8 million of this total was
funded from the company’s U.S. pension plan. The
remainder of the cost related to work-force reductions as
well as idle lease costs, discussed below, is being
funded from the company’s operating cash flow. The
charge related to idle lease costs was $29.5 million and
relates to contractual obligations (reduced by estimated
sublease income) existing under long-term leases of
vacated facilities. Estimates of the amounts and timing
of sublease income were based on discussions with real
estate brokers that considered the marketability of the
individual property involved. The charge for product and
program discontinuances was $42.1 million and princi-
pally represented capitalized marketable software and
inventory related to products or programs that were dis-
continued at December 31, 2001. These actions have
lowered the company’s cost base (principally employee-
related costs), thereby making the company better able
to compete in the marketplace.

Cash expenditures related to the 2001 restructuring
charges in 2003, 2002 and 2001 were approximately 
$53.6 million, $95.4 million and $23.3 million, respec-
tively. Cash expenditures are expected to be approxi-
mately $8.8 million for 2004 and $3.1 million in total for
all subsequent years principally for idle lease costs.  

During 2002, the company reduced the accrued work-
force portion of the reserve by $17.0 million. This reduc-
tion related to 330 employees who were designated for
involuntary termination but were retained as a result of
job positions that became available due to voluntary ter-
minations or acceptance of alternative positions within
the company. In addition, given the continuing weak eco-
nomic environment, the company identified new restruc-
turing actions and recorded an additional provision of
$30.5 million, for a work-force reduction of 996 people.

The 2001 fourth-quarter charge was recorded in the
following statement of income classifications: cost of
revenue, $163.8 million; selling, general and administra-
tive expenses, $83.2 million; research and development
expenses, $27.6 million; and other income (expense),
net, $1.7 million.
2000 charge As a result of a strategic business
review of its operations in 2000, the company took
actions to focus its resources on value-added business
opportunities, de-emphasize or eliminate low-return busi-
nesses and lower its cost base. In the fourth quarter of
2000, the company recorded a pretax charge of $127.6
million, or $.29 per diluted share, primarily for a work-
force reduction of 2,000 people (1,400 in the United
States and 600 outside the United States). Of the total,
approximately 500 people left the company in 2001 and
1,300 in 2000. Of the total work-force reduction, 742
people accepted an early retirement program in the

United States. For those employees who accepted the
early retirement program, cash requirements were pro-
vided through the company’s pension plan. Cash expen-
ditures related to the 2000 restructuring charges were 
$1.2 million in 2003, $5.5 million in 2002 and $39.3 mil-
lion in 2001. Cash expenditures for 2004 are expected to
be approximately $.8 million. A further breakdown of the
individual components of these costs follows:

Work-Force Reductions(1)

(Millions) Total U. S. Int’l Other (2)

Work-force
reductions (1)

Early retirement $ 57.8 $57.8

Involuntary 
reductions 60.9 13.3 $47.6

Subtotal 118.7 71.1 47.6

Other (2) 8.9 $8.9

Total charge 127.6 71.1 47.6 8.9

Utilized (71.9) (58.7) (7.8) (5.4)

Balance at
Dec. 31, 2000 55.7 12.4 39.8 3.5

Utilized (40.0) (8.8) (30.5) (.7)

Other(3) (7.1) (2.3) (4.0) (.8)

Balance at
Dec. 31, 2001 8.6 1.3 5.3 2.0

Utilized (6.6) (1.3) (3.3) (2.0)

Balance at
Dec. 31, 2002 $ 2.0 $ – $ 2.0 $ –

Utilized (1.2) (1.3) (1.2) (2.0)

Balance at
Dec. 31, 2003 $ .8 $ – $ 2.8 $ –

Expected future
utilization:

2004 $ .8 $ .8

(1) Includes severance, notice pay, medical and other benefits.
(2) Includes facilities costs, and product and program discontinuances.
(3) Includes changes in estimates, reversals of excess reserves, 

translation adjustments and additional provisions.

In 2001, there was a reduction in accrued work-force
provisions principally for the reversal of unneeded
reserves due to approximately 200 voluntary terminations.
Prior-year charges As a result of prior-year actions
related to a strategic realignment of the company’s 
business in 1997 and 1995, cash expenditures in 2003,
2002 and 2001 were $3.6 million, $3.5 million and 
$8.9 million, respectively. At December 31, 2003, a 
$5.8 million accrued liability remains principally for idle
lease costs. Cash expenditures for 2004 are expected to
be approximately $2.5 million.
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Revenue recognized in excess of billings on services
contracts, or unbilled accounts receivable, was $146.7 mil-
lion and $133.3 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Such amounts are included in accounts and
notes receivable, net. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the
company had long-term accounts and notes receivable, net
of $141.0 million and $144.0 million, respectively. Such
amounts are included in other long-term assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Income taxes

Year ended December 31 (Millions)        2003 2002 2001

Income (loss) before income taxes

United States $ 177.7 $ 125.7 $ 69.4

Foreign 202.8 207.1 (142.4)

Total income (loss) before 
income taxes $ 380.5 $ 332.8 $ (73.0)

Provision for income taxes 

Current

United States $ (34.5) $ (6.5) $ (1.6)

Foreign 49.1 62.4 24.0

State and local 17.2 7.7 3.5

Total 31.8 63.6 25.9

Deferred

United States 45.9 19.2 (16.2)

Foreign 44.1 27.0 (15.6)

Total 90.0 46.2 (31.8)

Total provision (benefit) for 
income taxes $ 121.8 $ 109.8 $ (5.9)

Following is a reconciliation of the provision for 
income taxes at the United States statutory tax rate to 
the provision (benefit) for income taxes as reported:

Year ended December 31 (Millions) 2003 2002       2001

United States statutory income
tax (benefit) $133.2 $116.5 $ (25.6)

Foreign tax differential 17.4 (4.1) 44.6

State taxes 11.1 5.0 2.3

U.S. federal tax refund claims,  
audit issues and other matters (36.3) (16.0) (26.1)

Other (3.6) 8.4 (1.1)

Provision (benefit) for income taxes $121.8 $109.8 $ (5.9)

6
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Accounts receivable 

In December 2003, the company renewed its agreement
to sell, through Unisys Funding Corporation I, a wholly
owned subsidiary, interests in eligible U.S. trade
accounts receivable for up to $225 million. The agree-
ment is renewable annually, at the purchasers’ option,
for up to three years. Unisys Funding Corporation I has
been structured to isolate its assets from creditors of
Unisys. The company received proceeds of $2.3 billion,
in each of 2003, 2002 and 2001, from ongoing sales 
of accounts receivable interests under the program. At
December 31, 2003 and 2002, the company retained
subordinated interests of $144 million and $120 million,
respectively, in the associated receivables; these receiv-
ables have been included in accounts and notes receiv-
able, net in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. As collections reduce previously sold interests,
interests in new eligible receivables can be sold, subject
to meeting certain conditions. At December 31, 2003
and 2002, receivables of $225 million and $199 million,
respectively, were sold and therefore removed from the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The selling price of the receivables interests reflects a
discount based on the A-1 rated commercial paper bor-
rowing rates of the purchasers (1.1% at December 31,
2003, and 1.5% at December 31, 2002). The company
remains responsible for servicing the underlying accounts
receivable, for which it will receive a fee of 0.5% of the
outstanding balance, which it believes represents ade-
quate compensation. The company estimates the fair
value of its retained interests by considering two key
assumptions: the payment rate, which is derived from the
average life of the accounts receivable, which is less than
60 days, and the rate of expected credit losses. Based on
the company’s favorable collection experience and very
short-term nature of the receivables, both assumptions
are considered to be highly predictable. Therefore, the
company’s estimated fair value of its retained interests in
the pool of eligible receivables is approximately equal to
book value, less the associated allowance for doubtful
accounts. The discount on the sales of these accounts
receivable during the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, was $3.4 million, $4.2 million and $12.2
million, respectively. These discounts are recorded in
other income (expense), net in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of income. 
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Cash paid, net of refunds, during 2003, 2002 and
2001 for income taxes was $64.4 million, $72.3 million
and $97.0 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2003, the company has U.S. federal
and state and local tax loss carryforwards and foreign tax
loss carryforwards for certain foreign subsidiaries, the
tax effect of which is approximately $395.2 million.
These carryforwards will expire as follows (in millions):
2004, $5.9; 2005, $7.0; 2006, $9.9; 2007, $10.5; 2008,
$20.6; and $341.3 thereafter. The company also has
available tax credit carryforwards of approximately 
$378.1 million, which will expire as follows (in millions):
2004, $9.3; 2005, $30.9; 2006, $ – ; 2007, $75.1; 2008, 
$51.9; and $210.9 thereafter.

The company has substantial amounts of net deferred
tax assets. Failure to achieve forecasted taxable income
might affect the ultimate realization of such assets. Fac-
tors that may affect the company’s ability to achieve suf-
ficient forecasted taxable income include, but are not
limited to, the following: increased competition, a
decline in sales or margins, loss of market share, delays
in product availability or technological obsolescence.

Properties

Properties comprise the following:

December 31 (Millions)                              2003 2002

Land $ 5.5 $ 5.3

Buildings 145.7 140.5

Machinery and office equipment 927.3 868.1

Internal-use software 179.5 167.0

Rental equipment 94.7 101.5

Total properties $1,352.7 $1,282.4

Investments at equity and 
minority interests

Substantially all of the company’s investments at equity
consist of Nihon Unisys, Ltd., a publicly traded Japanese
company (“NUL”). NUL is the exclusive supplier of the
company’s hardware and software products in Japan.
The company considers its investment in NUL to be of 
a long-term strategic nature. For the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, total direct and indi-
rect sales to NUL were approximately $275 million, $270
million and $340 million, respectively. At December 31,
2003, the company owned approximately 28% of NUL’s
common stock that had a market value of approximately
$258 million. The company’s share of NUL’s earnings or 

The tax effects of temporary differences and
carryforwards that give rise to significant portions of
deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2003
and 2002, were as follows:

December 31 (Millions)                           2003 2002

Deferred tax assets

Capitalized research and 
development $ 534.5 $ 566.2

Tax loss carryforwards 395.2 384.4

Foreign tax credit carryforwards 139.3 98.3

Other tax credit carryforwards 238.8 238.1

Capitalized intellectual 
property rights 254.3 302.4

Pensions 156.2 259.8

Postretirement benefits 64.3 70.5

Depreciation 66.2 52.6

Employee benefits 50.4 44.4

Restructuring 8.3 29.7

Other 298.1 277.1

2,205.6 2,323.5

Valuation allowance (450.7) (451.5)

Total deferred tax assets $1,754.9 $1,872.0

Deferred tax liabilities

Sales-type leases $ 72.2 $ 78.5

Other 99.9 67.5

Total deferred tax liabilities $ 172.1 $ 146.0

Net deferred tax assets $1,582.8 $1,726.0

SFAS No. 109 requires that deferred tax assets be
reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will
not be realized. The valuation allowance at December
31, 2003, applies principally to tax loss carryforwards 
and temporary differences relating to state and local and
certain foreign taxing jurisdictions that, in management’s
opinion, are more likely than not to expire unused. During
2003, the net decrease in the valuation allowance was
$.8 million.

Cumulative undistributed earnings of foreign sub-
sidiaries, for which no U.S. income or foreign withholding
taxes have been recorded, approximated $825 million 
at December 31, 2003. As the company intends to per-
manently reinvest all such earnings, no provision has
been made for income taxes that may become payable
upon distribution of such earnings, and it is not practi-
cable to determine the amount of the related unrecog-
nized deferred income tax liability. While there are no
specific plans to distribute the undistributed earnings in
the immediate future, where economically appropriate to
do so, such earnings may be remitted.

9
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Total long-term debt maturities in 2004, 2005, 2006,
2007 and 2008 are $2.2 million, $151.6 million, $400.6
million, $.9 million and $200.3 million, respectively.

Cash paid during 2003, 2002 and 2001 for interest
was $76.6 million, $73.6 million and $92.9 million,
respectively. Capitalized interest expense during 2003,
2002 and 2001 was $14.5 million, $13.9 million and
$11.8 million, respectively.

At December 31, 2003, the company had short-term
borrowings of $17.7 million, borrowed principally by 
international subsidiaries, at a weighted average interest
rate at December 31 of 7.4%.

In March 2003, the company issued $300 million of 
6 7/8% senior notes due 2010.

In 2001, the company completed a cash tender offer
for $319.2 million principal amount of its 113⁄4% senior
notes due 2004 and redeemed, at a premium, the
remaining $15.0 million outstanding principal amount of
such notes. As a result of these actions, the company
recorded a charge of $26.5 million, for the premium paid,
unamortized debt-related expenses and transaction costs.

The company has a $500 million credit agreement
that expires in May 2006. As of December 31, 2003,
there were no borrowings under this facility. Borrowings
under the agreement bear interest based on the then-
current LIBOR or prime rates and the company’s credit
rating. The credit agreement contains financial and other
covenants, including maintenance of certain financial
ratios, a minimum level of net worth and limitations on
certain types of transactions, which could reduce the
amount the company is able to borrow. Events of default
under the credit agreement include failure to perform
covenants, material adverse change, change of control
and default under other debt aggregating at least $25
million. If an event of default were to occur under the
credit agreement, the lenders would be entitled to
declare all amounts borrowed under it immediately due
and payable. The occurrence of an event of default
under the credit agreement could also cause the acceler-
ation of obligations under certain other agreements and
the termination of the company’s U.S. trade accounts
receivable facility. In addition, the company and certain
international subsidiaries have access to certain uncom-
mitted lines of credit from various banks. At December
31, 2003, the company met all covenants and conditions
under its various lending and funding agreements.

losses is recorded semiannually on a quarter-lag basis in
other income (expense), net in the company’s consoli-
dated statements of income. During the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the company
recorded equity income or (loss) related to NUL of $18.2
million, $(11.8) million and $10.4 million, respectively. The
year ended December 31, 2003, included $12.2 million
income related to the company’s share of a subsidy
recorded by NUL upon transfer of a portion of its pension
plan obligation to the Japanese government. The year
ended December 31, 2002, included a $21.8 million
charge related to the company’s share of an early retire-
ment charge recorded by NUL. The company has approxi-
mately $185 million of retained earnings that represents
undistributed earnings of NUL. 

Summarized financial information for NUL as of and for
its fiscal years ended March 31 is as follows:

(Millions) 2003 2002 2001

Year ended March 31
Revenue $2,535.6 $2,451.8 $ 2,819.2
Gross profit 645.9 646.0 815.5
Pretax income (loss) 128.4 (101.2) 85.7
Net income (loss) 68.5 (62.4) 44.0

At March 31
Current assets 1,178.8 1,257.6 1,304.9
Noncurrent assets 903.1 892.3 709.6
Current liabilities 772.0 936.3 913.7
Noncurrent liabilities 782.7 851.2 357.0
Minority interests 14.2 10.7 11.0

The company owns 51% of Intelligent Processing 
Solutions Limited (“iPSL”), a UK-based company, which
provides high-volume payment processing. iPSL is fully
consolidated in the company’s financial statements. The
minority owners’ interests are reported in other long-term
liabilities ($48.9 million and $52.8 million at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively) and in other income
(expense), net in the company’s financial statements.

Debt

Long-term debt comprises the following:

December 31 (Millions)                                2003 2002

81⁄8% senior notes due 2006 $ 400.0 $ 400.0
77⁄8% senior notes due 2008 200.0 200.0
71⁄4% senior notes due 2005 150.0 150.0
67⁄8% senior notes due 2010 300.0 150.0
Other, net of unamortized

discounts .5 2.4

Total 1,050.5 752.4
Less – current maturities 2.2 4.4

Total long-term debt $1,048.3 $ 748.0

10
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Other accrued liabilities

Other accrued liabilities (current) comprise 
the following:

December 31 (Millions)                             2003    2002

Customers’ deposits and 
prepayments $ 409.6 $ 343.1

Deferred revenue 216.1 222.6

Payrolls and commissions 197.3 210.5

Accrued vacations 128.6 113.1

Taxes other than income taxes 72.9 74.5

Restructuring* 12.1 65.8

Other 2269.1 283.2

Total other accrued liabilities $1,305.7 $ 1,312.8

*At December 31, 2003 and 2002, an additional $6.4 million and $12.6 
million, respectively, was reported in other long-term liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets.

Product warranty

For equipment manufactured by the company, the 
company warrants that it will substantially conform to
relevant published specifications for 12 months after
shipment to the customer. The company will repair or
replace, at its option and expense, items of equipment
that do not meet this warranty. For company software,
the company warrants that it will conform substantially
to then-current published functional specifications for 
90 days from customer’s receipt. The company will pro-
vide a workaround or correction for material errors in its
software that prevent its use in a production environment. 

The company estimates the costs that may be
incurred under its warranties and records a liability in the
amount of such costs at the time revenue is recognized.
Factors that affect the company’s warranty liability
include the number of units sold, historical and antici-
pated rates of warranty claims and cost per claim. The
company quarterly assesses the adequacy of its
recorded warranty liabilities and adjusts the amounts as
necessary. Presented below is a reconciliation of the
aggregate product warranty liability:

Year ended December 31 (Millions) 2003 2002

Balance at January 1 $ 19.2 $ 16.1

Accruals for warranties issued
during the period 23.5 16.4

Settlements made during the period (18.3) (15.2)

Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties 
during the period, including expirations (3.6) 1.9

Balance at December 31 $ 20.8 $ 19.2

11
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13 Rental expense and 
commitments

Rental expense, less income from subleases, for 2003,
2002 and 2001 was $165.6 million, $159.0 million and
$161.6 million, respectively.

Minimum net rental commitments under noncance-
lable operating leases outstanding at December 31, 2003,
substantially all of which relate to real properties, were as
follows: 2004, $130.0 million; 2005, $102.0 million; 2006,
$82.8 million; 2007, $66.1 million; 2008, $50.6 million; and
$225.5 million thereafter. Such rental commitments have
been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $126.6 mil-
lion, due in the future under noncancelable subleases.

In June 2003, the company entered into a new lease
for its facility at Malvern, PA, that replaces a former lease
that was due to expire in March 2005. The new lease has
a 60-month term expiring in June 2008. Under the new
lease, the company has the option to purchase the facility
at any time for approximately $34 million. In addition, if
the company does not exercise its purchase option and
the lessor sells the facility at the end of the lease term for
a price that is less than approximately $34 million, the
company will be required to guarantee the lessor a
residual value on the property of up to $29 million. The
lessor is a substantive independent leasing company that
does not have the characteristics of a variable interest
entity as defined by FIN 46 and is therefore not 
consolidated by the company.

The company has accounted for the lease as an oper-
ating lease, and therefore, neither the leased facility nor
the related debt is reported in the company’s accompa-
nying consolidated balance sheets. As stated above, under
the lease, the company is required to provide a guaranteed
residual value on the facility of up to $29 million to the
lessor at the end of the 60-month lease term. The com-
pany recognized a liability of approximately $1 million for
the related residual value guarantee. The value of the 
guarantee was determined by computing the estimated
present value of probability-weighted cash flows that might
be expended under the guarantee, discounted using the
company’s incremental borrowing rate of approximately
6.5%. The company has recorded a liability for the fair
value of the obligation with a corresponding asset recorded
as prepaid rent, which will be amortized to rental expense
over the lease term. The liability will be subsequently
assessed and adjusted to fair value as necessary.

At December 31, 2003, the company had outstanding
standby letters of credit and surety bonds of approxi-
mately $280 million related to performance and payment
guarantees. On the basis of experience with these
arrangements, the company believes that any obligations
that may arise will not be material.
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The amount of such reclassifications during the 
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, 
was immaterial.

In addition to the cash flow hedge derivatives men-
tioned above, the company enters into foreign exchange
forward contracts that have not been designated as
hedging instruments. Such contracts generally have 
maturities of one month and are used by the company 
to manage its exposure to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates principally on intercompany accounts. 
The fair value of such instruments is recognized as either
assets or liabilities in the company’s consolidated balance
sheets, and changes in the fair value are recognized
immediately in earnings in other income (expense), net 
in the company’s consolidated statements of income.

During the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001, the company recognized foreign exchange
transaction gains or (losses) in other income (expense),
net in its consolidated statements of income of $(11.3)
million, $(1.2) million and $21.4 million, respectively.

Financial instruments also include temporary cash
investments and customer accounts receivable. Tempo-
rary investments are placed with creditworthy financial
institutions, primarily in oversecuritized treasury repur-
chase agreements, Eurotime deposits, or commercial
paper of major corporations. At December 31, 2003, the
company’s cash equivalents principally have maturities of 
less than one month. Due to the short maturities of
these instruments, they are carried on the consolidated
balance sheets at cost plus accrued interest, which
approximates  market value. Realized gains or losses
during 2003 and 2002, as well as unrealized gains or
losses at December 31, 2003, were immaterial. Receiv-
ables are due from a large number of customers that are
dispersed worldwide across many industries. At December
31, 2003 and 2002, the company had no significant
concentrations of credit risk. The carrying amount of cash
and cash equivalents, notes payable and long-term debt
approximates fair value. 

Litigation

There are various lawsuits, claims and proceedings that
have been brought or asserted against the company.
Although the ultimate results of these lawsuits, claims
and proceedings are not currently determinable, manage-
ment does not expect that these matters will have a
material adverse effect on the company’s consolidated
financial position, consolidated results of operations, 
or liquidity.

Financial instruments

Due to its foreign operations, the company is exposed 
to the effects of foreign currency exchange rate fluctua-
tions on the U.S. dollar. The company uses derivative
financial instruments to manage its exposure to market
risks from changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
The derivative instruments used are foreign exchange
forward contracts and foreign exchange options.

Certain of the company’s qualifying derivative financial
instruments have been designated as cash flow hedging
instruments. Such instruments are used to manage the
company’s currency exchange rate risks for forecasted
transactions involving intercompany sales and royalties
and third-party royalty receipts. For the forecasted inter-
company transactions, the company generally enters into
derivative financial instruments for a six-month period by
initially purchasing a three-month foreign exchange option,
which, at expiration, is replaced with a three-month for-
eign exchange forward contract. For forecasted third-party
royalty receipts, which are principally denominated in
Japanese yen, the company generally purchases 
12-month foreign exchange forward contracts.

The company recognizes the fair value of its cash flow
hedge derivatives as either assets or liabilities in its con-
solidated balance sheets. Changes in the fair value related
to the effective portion of such derivatives are recognized
in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is
recognized in earnings, at which point the accumulated
gain or loss is reclassified out of other comprehensive
income and into earnings. The ineffective portion of such
derivative’s change in fair value is immediately recognized
in earnings. The amount of ineffectiveness recognized in
earnings during the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, related to cash flow hedge derivatives 
for third-party royalties was a gain of approximately $.5
million, $1.7 million and $4.2 million, respectively. The
ineffective amount related to cash flow hedge derivatives
for intercompany transactions was immaterial. Both the
amounts reclassified out of other comprehensive income
and into earnings and the ineffectiveness recognized in
earnings related to cash flow hedge derivatives for fore-
casted intercompany transactions are recognized in cost of
revenue, and in revenue for forecasted third-party royalties.
Substantially all of the accumulated income and loss in
other comprehensive income related to cash flow hedges
at December 31, 2003, is expected to be reclassified into
earnings within the next 12 months.

When a cash flow hedge is discontinued because it is
probable that the original forcasted transaction will not
occur by the end of the original specified time period,
the company is required to reclassify any gains or losses
out of other comprehensive income and into earnings. 

14
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Segment information

The company has two business segments:  Services and
Technology. The products and services of each segment
are marketed throughout the world to commercial
businesses and governments. Revenue classifications by
segment are as follows: Services – systems integration
and consulting, outsourcing, infrastructure services, and
core maintenance; Technology – enterprise-class servers
and specialized technologies.

The accounting policies of each business segment are
the same as those described in the summary of signifi-
cant accounting policies. Intersegment sales and transfers
are priced as if the sales or transfers were to third parties.
Accordingly, the Technology segment recognizes interseg-
ment revenue and manufacturing profit on hardware and
software shipments to customers under Services con-
tracts. The Services segment, in turn, recognizes cus-
tomer revenue and marketing profit on such shipments 
of company hardware and software to customers. The
Services segment also includes the sale of hardware and
software products sourced from third parties that are sold
to customers through the company’s Services channels.
In the company’s consolidated statements of income, the
manufacturing costs of products sourced from the 
Technology segment and sold to Services customers are
reported in cost of revenue for Services. 

Also included in the Technology segment’s sales and
operating profit are sales of hardware and software 
sold to the Services segment for internal use in Services
engagements. The amount of such profit included in
operating income of the Technology segment for the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, was
$24.4 million, $19.2 million and $21.8 million, respectively.
The profit on these transactions is eliminated in Corporate.

The company evaluates business segment perfor-
mance on operating income exclusive of restructuring
charges and unusual and nonrecurring items, which 
are included in Corporate. All corporate and centrally
incurred costs are allocated to the business segments
based principally on revenue, employees, square footage
or usage.

Corporate assets are principally cash and cash 
equivalents, prepaid pension assets and deferred income
taxes. The expense or income related to corporate
assets is allocated to the business segments. In addition,
corporate assets include an offset for interests in
accounts receivable that have been recorded as sales in
accordance with SFAS No. 140, because such receivables
are included in the assets of the business segments.

No single customer accounts for more than 10% of 
revenue. Revenue from various agencies of the U.S. 
Government, which is reported in both business segments,
approximated $895 million, $579 million and $623 million in
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Included in these
amounts are $165 million, $86 million and $17 million,
respectively of revenue associated with products leased to
various agencies of the U.S. Government and sold to a
third-party finance company.

A summary of the company’s operations by business
segment for 2003, 2002 and 2001 is presented below:

(Millions) Total Corporate Services Technology

2003

Customer revenue $5,911.2 $ 4,691.9 $ 1,219.3
Intersegment $ (319.8) 25.9 293.9

Total revenue $5,911.2 $ (319.8) $ 4,717.8 $ 1,513.2

Operating income 
(loss) $ 427.7 $ (.6) $ 236.2 $ 192.1

Depreciation and
amortization 342.6 193.6 149.0

Total assets 5,474.6 2,244.1 2,256.3 974.2
Investments at 

equity 153.3 1.1 152.2
Capital expenditures 251.3 11.8 202.3 37.2

2002

Customer revenue $5,607.4 $ 4,285.1 $ 1,322.3
Intersegment $ (331.9) 38.8 293.1

Total revenue $5,607.4 $ (331.9) $ 4,323.9 $ 1,615.4

Operating income 
(loss) $ 423.2 $ (21.4) $ 256.0 $ 188.6

Depreciation and
amortization 297.8 167.2 130.6

Total assets 4,981.4 1,995.3 2,002.0 984.1
Investments at 

equity 111.8 1.1 110.7
Capital expenditures 196.2 15.3 142.4 38.5

2001

Customer revenue $6,018.1 $ 4,444.6 $ 1,573.5
Intersegment $ (363.4) 73.8 289.6

Total revenue $6,018.1 $ (363.4) $ 4,518.4 $ 1,863.1

Operating income 
(loss) $ (4.5) $ (315.7) $ 94.7 $ 216.5

Depreciation and
amortization 318.0 155.1 162.9

Total assets 5,769.1 2,617.6 2,009.3 1,142.2
Investments at 

equity 212.3 1.8 210.5
Capital expenditures 199.4 28.9 113.8 56.7
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Geographic information about the company’s revenue,
which is principally based on location of the selling
organization, and properties, is presented below:

(Millions)                               2003 2002           2001

Revenue

United States $2,757.1 $2,500.7 $2,595.3

United Kingdom 837.4 749.3 823.9

Other foreign 2,316.7 2,357.4 2,598.9

Total $5,911.2 $5,607.4 $6,018.1

Properties, net

United States $ 278.7 $ 293.9 $ 320.4

United Kingdom 44.9 39.9 39.0

Other foreign 100.6 113.0 109.4

Total $ 424.2 $ 446.8 $ 468.8

Employee plans

Stock plans Under the company’s plans, stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, 
and restricted stock units may be granted to officers,
directors and other key employees.

Options have been granted to purchase the com-
pany’s common stock at an exercise price equal to or
greater than the fair market value at the date of grant.
Options generally have a maximum duration of 10
years and become exercisable in annual installments
over a four-year period following date of grant.

Restricted stock and restricted stock units have
been granted and are subject to forfeiture until the
expiration of a specified period of service
commencing on the date of grant. Compensation
expense resulting from the awards is charged to
income ratably from the date of grant until the date
the restrictions lapse and is based on fair market 
value at the date of grant. During the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, $.9 million, 
$.2 million and $.6 million was charged to income,
respectively.

The company has a worldwide Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), which enables substantially
all regular employees to purchase shares of the com-
pany’s common stock through payroll deductions of
up to 10% of eligible pay with a limit of $25,000 per
employee. The price the employee pays is 85% of the
market price at the beginning or end of a calendar
quarter, whichever is lower. During the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, employees 
purchased newly issued shares from the company 
for $25.4 million, $24.1 million and $28.8 million,
respectively.

Presented below is a reconciliation of total business
segment operating income to consolidated income
(loss) before income taxes:

Year ended December 31

(Millions)                                    2003 2002          2001

Total segment operating
income $ 428.3 $ 444.6 $ 311.2

Interest expense (69.6) (66.5) (70.0)

Other income (expense), net 22.4 (23.9) 1.5

Corporate and eliminations (.6) (21.4) (39.4)

Fourth-quarter charges (276.3) (276.3)

Total income (loss) before
income taxes $ 380.5 $ 332.8 $ (73.0)

Presented below is a reconciliation of total
business segment assets to consolidated assets:

December 31 (Millions)             2003 2002          2001

Total segment assets $3,230.5 $2,986.1 $3,151.5

Cash and cash equivalents 635.9 301.8 325.9

Prepaid pension assets 55.5 1,221.0 1,221.0

Deferred income taxes 1,654.6 1,787.3 1,090.4

Elimination for sale of 
receivables (264.4) (273.5) (191.8)

Other corporate assets 162.5 179.7 172.1

Total assets $5,474.6 $4,981.4 $5,769.1

Customer revenue by classes of similar products or
services, by segment, is presented below:

Year ended December 31             

(Millions) 2003 2002          2001

Services

Systems integration
and consulting $1,595.8 $1,455.6 $1,465.3

Outsourcing 1,682.7 1,441.2 1,302.3

Infrastructure services 841.3 831.7 1,094.9

Core maintenance 572.1 556.6 582.1

4,691.9 4,285.1 4,444.6

Technology

Enterprise-class servers 928.7 955.9 1,048.5

Specialized technologies 290.6 366.4 525.0

1,219.3 1,322.3 1,573.5

Total $5,911.2 $5,607.4 $6,018.1

17



49

U.S. employees are eligible to participate in an
employee savings plan. Under this plan, employees may
contribute a percentage of their pay for investment in
various investment alternatives. Company matching con-
tributions of 2% of pay are made in the form of newly
issued shares of company common stock. The charge to
income related to the company match for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, was $18.8
million, $17.9 million and $18.0 million, respectively.

The company applies APB Opinion 25 for its stock
plans and the disclosure-only option under SFAS No.
123. Accordingly, no compensation expense is recog-
nized for stock options granted and for common stock
purchases under the ESPP.

The fair value of stock options is estimated at the
date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions for
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively: risk-free interest
rates of 2.89%, 4.44% and 5.08%, volatility factors of
the expected market price of the company’s common
stock of 55%, a weighted average expected life of the
options of five years and no dividends.

A summary of the status of stock option activity 
follows:

Year ended December 31 
(Shares in thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Weighted Avg. Weighted Avg. Weighted Avg.
Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding at 
beginning of year 38,890 $19.73 28,653 $22.56 22,085 $24.44

Granted 5,327 8.93 13,873 14.39 9,122 17.75
Exercised (736) 8.39 (647) 7.68 (697) 6.91
Forfeited and expired (1,983) 16.84 (2,989) 29.18 (1,857) 27.07

Outstanding at end of year 41,498 18.70 38,890 19.73 28,653 22.56

Exercisable at end of year 21,704 22.18 15,570 21.94 11,709 19.90

Shares available for granting
options at end of year 19,560 12,449 2,477

Weighted average fair value 
of options granted during 
the year $ 4.20 $ 5.95 $ 9.80

December 31, 2003
(Shares in thousands) Outstanding Exercisable

Exercise Average Average Average
Price Range Shares Life * Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price

$5.75–11.79 9,795 6.71 $ 8.64 4,013 $ 8.78
$11.79–12.11 8,912 8.13 12.10 2,144 12.10
$12.11–22.72 10,287 6.52 19.19 6,225 20.15
$22.72–34.13 12,376 6.21 30.80 9,194 31.52
$34.13–51.73 128 5.33 38.55 128 38.55

Total 41,498 6.81 18.70 21,704 22.18

* Average contractual remaining life in years.
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U.S. Plans International Plans  

December 31 (Millions) 2003 2002 2003 2002

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $4,123.9 $3,869.0 $1,317.8 $ 947.0

Service cost 58.8 36.0 41.3 27.6

Interest cost 267.4 278.9 80.0 64.3

Plan participants’ contributions 8.5 7.2

Plan amendments (74.0) (74.0) 2.2 1.2

Actuarial loss 194.2 319.1 192.8 117.3

Benefits paid (292.7) (305.1) (44.5) (49.7)

Effect of terminations, settlements and curtailments 5.0 2.6

Foreign currency translation adjustments 211.4 152.1

Other* 82.7 48.2

Benefit obligation at end of year $4,351.6 $4,123.9 $1,797.2 $1,317.8

Accumulated benefit obligation $4,327.2 $4,121.5 $1,561.5 $1,149.1

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $3,574.4 $4,300.1 $ 974.6 $ 914.9

Actual return on plan assets 841.9 (428.2) 118.8 (111.6)

Employer contribution 5.9 7.6 56.6 34.6

Plan participants’ contributions 8.5 7.2

Benefits paid (292.7) (305.1) (44.5) (49.7)

Foreign currency translation adjustments 161.5 126.2

Other* 80.7 53.0

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $4,129.5 $3,574.4 $1,356.2 $ 974.6

Funded status $ (222.1) $ (549.5) $ (441.0) $ (343.2)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss 1,601.3 1,865.9 640.6 514.6

Unrecognized prior service (benefit) cost (62.4) (74.4) 11.1 6.8

Net amount recognized $1,316.8 $1,242.0 $ 210.7 $ 178.2

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance 
sheets consist of:

Prepaid pension cost $ – $ – $ 55.5– $ –

Intangible asset 8.8 6.8

Accrued pension liability $ (197.7) $ (547.1) (235.9) (180.6)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss** 1,514.5 1,789.1 382.3 352.0

$1,316.8 $1,242.0 $ 210.7 $ 178.2

* Represents amounts of pension assets and liabilities assumed by the company at the inception of certain outsourcing contracts
related to the customers’ employees hired by the company.

**In addition to amounts recognized in other comprehensive loss relating to company pension plans, the company recorded $74.0    
million and $80.4 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, in other comprehensive loss related to its share of NUL’s 
minimum pension liability adjustment.

Information for plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at December 31,
2003 and 2002, follows:

Retirement benefits
December 31 is the measurement date for both U.S. and international defined benefit pension plans.
Retirement plans’ funded status and amounts recognized in the company’s consolidated balance
sheets at December 31, 2003 and 2002, follow:

December 31 (Millions) 2003 2002

Projected benefit obligation $5,691.1 $5,441.7
Accumulated benefit obligation 5,574.0 5,270.6
Fair value of plan assets 5,146.1 4,549.0
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Net periodic pension cost for 2003, 2002 and 2001 includes the following components:

U.S. Plans International Plans

Year ended December 31 (Millions) 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

Service cost $ 58.8 $ 36.0 $ 35.2 $ 41.3 $ 27.6 $ 22.3

Interest cost 267.4 278.9 273.7 80.0 64.3 55.1

Expected return on plan assets (403.6) (459.8) (476.2) (97.2) (91.4) (79.4)

Amortization of prior service (benefit) cost (12.0) (5.6) (5.5) 1.0 .8 .9

Amortization of asset or liability at adoption .3

Recognized net actuarial loss (gain) 20.6 1.7 1.2 14.0 2.6 (1.0)

Settlement/curtailment (gain) loss (.4) (.4) 7.1 1.8 3.4

Net periodic pension (income) cost $ (68.8) $ (149.2) $(171.6) $ 46.2 $ 5.7 $ 1.6

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

Discount rate 6.75% 7.50% 8.00% 5.86% 6.25% 6.57%

Rate of compensation increase 5.40% 5.40% 5.40% 3.64% 3.80% 3.77%

Expected long-term rate of return on assets* 8.75% 9.50% 10.00% 7.64% 8.20% 8.54%
* For 2004, the company has assumed that the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets for its U.S. defined benefit pension plan will be 8.75%.

The allocation for the U.S. pension plan at December
31, 2003 and 2002, follows:

December 31 2003 2002

Asset Category

Equity securities 68% 64%

Debt securities 24 27

Real estate 6 8

Cash 2 1

Total 100% 100%

The company’s investment policy targets and ranges
for each asset category are as follows:  

Asset Category Target Range

Equity securities 68% 65-71%

Debt securities 26% 23-29%

Real estate 6% 3-9%

Cash 0% 0-5%

The company periodically reviews its asset 
allocation taking into consideration plan liabilities, plan
payment streams and then-current capital market
assumptions. The actual asset allocation is monitored
monthly relative to the established policy targets and
ranges. If the actual asset allocation is close to or out
of any of the ranges, a review is conducted. Rebal-
ancing will occur toward the target allocation with due
consideration given to the liquidity of the investments
and transaction costs.

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31 were as follows:

Discount rate 6.25% 6.75% 7.50% 5.30% 5.86% 6.25%

Rate of compensation increase 4.60% 5.40% 5.40% 3.00% 3.64% 3.80%

The objectives of the company’s investment strategies
are as follows: (a) to provide a total return that, over the
long term, maximizes investment return on assets, at a
level of risk deemed appropriate, (b) to maximize return
on assets by investing primarily in equity securities, (c) to
diversify investments within asset classes to reduce the
impact of losses in single investments, and (d) to invest
in compliance with the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”), as amended, and any
subsequent applicable regulations and laws.

The company sets the expected long-term rate of
return based on the expected long-term return of the 
various asset categories in which it invests. The company
considered the current expectations for future returns
and the actual historical returns of each asset class. Also,
since the company's investment policy is to actively
manage certain asset classes where the potential exists
to outperform the broader market, the expected returns
for those asset classes were adjusted to reflect the
expected additional returns.

The company expects to make cash contributions of
approximately $66 million to its worldwide defined ben-
efit pension plans in 2004. In accordance with regulations
governing contributions to U.S. defined benefit pension
plans, the company is not required to fund its U.S. 
qualified defined benefit pension plan in 2004.
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As of December 31, 2003, the following benefit 
payments, which reflect expected future service, are
expected to be paid from the U.S. defined benefit 
pension plans:

Year ending December 31 (Millions) Expected payments

2004 $ 297.4

2005 301.3

2006 306.8

2007 313.6

2008 320.3

2009-2013 1,716.0

Other postretirement benefits
December 31 is the measurement date for the com-
pany’s postretirement medical plan. A reconciliation of
the benefit obligation, fair value of the plan assets and
the funded status of the postretirement medical plan at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, follow:

December 31 (Millions) 2003 2002

Change in benefit obligation 

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 227.4 $ 220.1

Interest cost 14.6 14.7

Plan participants’ contributions 30.4 30.7

Actuarial loss 11.1 17.5

Benefits paid (57.9) (55.6)

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 225.6 $ 227.4

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning 
of year $ 11.9 $ 13.4

Actual return on plan assets .4 1.1

Employer contributions 25.3 22.3

Plan participants’ contributions 30.4 30.7

Benefits paid (57.9) (55.6)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 10.1 $ 11.9

Funded status $ (215.5) $ (215.5)

Unrecognized net actuarial loss 48.4 40.7

Unrecognized prior service benefit (5.9) (7.9)

Accrued benefit cost $ (173.0) $ (182.7)

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2003, 
2002 and 2001, follows:

Year ended December 31 (Millions) 2003 2002 2001

Interest cost $14.6 $14.7 $15.2

Amortization of prior 
service benefit (2.0) (2.0) (2.0)

Recognized net actuarial loss 3.1 1.9 1.3

Net periodic benefit cost $15.7 $14.6 $14.5

Weighted-average assumptions
used to determine net periodic
postretirement benefit cost for
the years ended December 31 
were as follows:

Discount rate 7.00% 7.40% 7.70%

Expected return on plan assets 6.75% 8.00% 8.00%

Weighted-average assumptions 
used to determine benefit obligation 
at December 31 were as follows:

Discount rate 6.74% 7.00% 7.40%

The plan assets are invested as follows: 94% debt securi-
ties and 6% cash. The company reviews its asset allocation
periodically, taking into consideration plan liabilities, plan pay-
ment streams and then-current capital market assumptions.
The company sets the long-term expected return on asset
assumption based principally on the long-term expected
return on debt securities. These return assumptions are based
on a combination of current market conditions, capital market
expectations of third-party investment advisors and actual 
historical returns of the asset classes. 

The company expects to contribute approximately $25 mil-
lion to its postretirement benefit plan in 2004.

Assumed health care cost trend
rates at December 31 2003 2002

Health care cost trend rate assumed 
for next year 9.3% 10.5%

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed 
to decline (the ultimate trend rate) 5.5% 5.5%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate 
trend rate 2008 2008

A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care 
cost trend rates would have the following effects (in millions
of dollars):

1-Percentage- 1-Percentage-
Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on total of service 
and interest cost $ .7 $ (.7)

Effect on postretirement 
benefit obligation 10.9 (10.9)
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As of December 31, 2003, the following benefit payments
are expected to be paid from the company’s postretirement
medical plan:

Year ending December 31 (Millions) Expected payments

2004 $ 24.5

2005 25.6

2006 26.7

2007 27.3

2008 27.6

2009-2013 116.0

On December 8, 2003, the president of the United States
signed into law the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement
and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”). The Act introduces
a prescription drug benefit under Medicare as well as a federal
subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that pro-
vide a benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to Medicare
Part D. Under a Financial Accounting Standards Board Staff
Position FSP FAS 106-1, issued on January 12, 2004, the com-
pany has elected to defer accounting for the effects of the Act.
Therefore, the measures of the postretirement benefit obliga-
tion and the net periodic postretirement benefit cost herein do
not reflect the effects of the Act on the plan. Specific authora-
tive guidance on the accounting for the federal subsidy is
pending, and that guidance, when issued, could require the
company to change previously reported information.

Stockholders’ equity

The company has 720.0 million authorized shares of common
stock, par value $.01 per share, and 40.0 million shares of autho-
rized preferred stock, par value $1 per share, issuable in series.

Each outstanding share of common stock has attached to
it one preferred share purchase right. The rights become
exercisable only if a person or group acquires 20% or more
of the company’s common stock, or announces a tender or
exchange offer for 30% or more of the common stock. Until
the rights become exercisable, they have no dilutive effect
on net income per common share.

At December 31, 2003, 87.2 million shares of unissued
common stock of the company were reserved principally for
stock options and for stock purchase and savings plans.

Comprehensive income (loss) for the three years ended
December 31, 2003, includes the following components:

Year ended December 31 (Millions) 2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss) $ 258.7 $ 223.0 $ (67.1)

Other comprehensive 
income (loss) 

Cumulative effect of change  
in accounting principle 
(SFAS No. 133), net of tax 
of $1.8 3.3

Cash flow hedges
Income (loss), net of tax of 

$(8.6), $(4.3) and $5.1 (15.9) (7.9) 9.7
Reclassification adjustments, 

net of tax of $5.9, $1.2
and $(4.6) 10.8 2.0 (8.6)

Foreign currency translation
adjustments (65.3) (33.8) (67.5)

Minimum pension liability, net 
of tax of $(85.9) and $731.2 164.8 (1,490.4)

Total other comprehensive 
income (loss) (225.0) (1,530.1) (63.1)

Comprehensive income (loss) $ (483.7) $ (1,307.1) $(130.2)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as of
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, is as follows (in millions
of dollars): 

Minimum
Translation Cash Flow Pension

Total Adjustments Hedges Liability

Balance at 
December 31, 2000 $ (643.7) $ (643.7) $    – $ –

Change during period (63.1) (67.5) 4.4

Balance at 
December 31, 2001 (706.8) (711.2) 4.4 –

Change during period (1,530.1) (33.8) (5.9) (1,490.4)

Balance at 
December 31, 2002 (2,236.9) (745.0) (1.5) (1,490.4)

Change during period 225.0 65.3 (5.1) 164.8

Balance at 
December 31, 2003 $(2,011.9) $ (679.7) $(6.6) $ (1,325.6)
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Report of Management

The management of the company is responsible for the integrity of its financial statements. These statements have been
prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and include amounts based on the
best estimates and judgments of management. Financial information included elsewhere in this report is consistent with that
in the financial statements.

The company maintains a system of internal accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded against loss or unauthorized use, and that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s
authorization and recorded and summarized properly. This system is augmented by written policies and procedures, an
internal audit program, and the selection and training of qualified personnel.

Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, have audited the company’s financial statements. Their accompanying report is
based on audits conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States, which require a
review of the system of internal accounting controls and tests of accounting procedures and records to the extent necessary for
the purpose of their audits.

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent directors, oversees
management’s responsibilities in the preparation of the financial statements and selects the independent auditors, subject to
stockholder ratification. The Audit Committee meets regularly with the independent auditors, representatives of management,
and the internal auditors to review the activities of each and to assure that each is properly discharging its responsibilities. To
ensure complete independence, the internal auditors and representatives of Ernst & Young LLP have full access to meet with
the Audit Committee, with or without management representatives present, to discuss the results of their audits and their 
observations on the adequacy of internal controls and the quality of financial reporting.

Lawrence A. Weinbach Janet Brutschea Haugen
Chairman, President Senior Vice President
and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Directors of Unisys Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Unisys Corporation as of December 31, 2003 and 2002,
and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of Unisys Corporation’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of Unisys Corporation at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 Unisys Corporation adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which resulted in Unisys Corporation changing the
method of accounting for goodwill.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
January 20, 2004
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Five-year summary of selected financial data

(Millions, except per share data) 2003 2002 2001(1) 2000(1) 1999

Results of operations
Revenue $ 5,911.2 $5,607.4 $6,018.1 $6,885.0 $7,544.6
Operating income (loss) 427.7 423.2 (4.5) 426.8 960.7
Income (loss) before income taxes 380.5 332.8 (73.0) 348.5 751.7
Net income (loss) 258.7 223.0 (67.1) 225.0 510.7
Dividends on preferred shares 7,544.6 1 36.7
Earnings (loss) on common shares 258.7 223.0 (67.1) 225.0 474.0
Earnings (loss) per common share 

Basic .79 .69 (.21) .72 1.65
Diluted .78 .69 (.21) .71 1.59

Financial position
Total assets $ 5,474.6 $4,981.4 $5,769.1 $5,713.3 $5,885.0
Long-term debt 1,048.3 748.0 745.0 536.3 950.2
Common stockholders’ equity 1,395.2 856.0 2,112.7 2,186.1 1,953.3
Common stockholders’ equity per share 4.20 2.62 6.59 6.93 6.29
Other data
Research and development $ 280.1 $ 273.3 $ 331.5 $ 333.6 $ 339.4
Capital additions of properties and 

outsourcing equipment 251.3 196.2 199.4 198.3 219.6
Investment in marketable software 144.1 139.9 136.8 152.4 122.8
Depreciation and amortization of properties

and outsourcing equipment 219.0 176.8 156.0 148.3 148.4
Amortization

Marketable software 123.6 121.0 145.5 115.5 110.9
Goodwill 16.5 21.8 21.7

Common shares outstanding (millions) 331.9 326.2 320.6 315.4 310.6
Stockholders of record (thousands) 26.3 27.3 28.4 ,29.7 32.8
Employees (thousands) 37.3 36.4 38.9 36.9 35.8

(1) Includes special pretax charges of $276.3 million and $127.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Unisys Corporation

Quarterly financial information

First Second Third Fourth
(Millions, except per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

2003

Revenue $1,398.9 $1,425.0 $1,449.7 $1,637.6 $5,911.2
Gross profit 387.1 392.1 425.1 510.7 1,715.0
Income before income taxes 57.5 78.2 84.0 (160.8) (380.5)
Net income 38.5 52.5 56.2 (111.5) (258.7)
Earnings (loss) per share – basic .12 .16 .17 .34 .79

– diluted .12 .16 .17 .33 .78
Market price per share – high 11.24 12.45 14.19 16.85 16.85

– low 8.25 9.08 11.41 13.32 8.253/
.
2002

Revenue $1,362.5 $1,359.8 $1,332.3 $1,552.8 $5,607.4
Gross profit 389.3 404.5 403.0 491.7 1,688.5
Income before income taxes 48.9 62.9 88.1 132.9 332.8
Net income 32.7 42.2 59.0 89.1 223.0
Earnings per share  – basic .10 .13 .18 .27 .69

– diluted .10 .13 .18 .27 .69
Market price per share  – high 13.74 13.84 9.67 11.49 13.84

– low 10.78 8.30 6.399.13 5.92 5.923/
The individual quarterly per-share amounts may not total to the per-share amount for the full year because of accounting rules governing the 
computation of earnings per share.

Market prices per share are as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange composite listing.

Supplemental Financial Data (Unaudited)



Stock Information

Common Stock
The company has 720.0 million authorized shares of common stock,
par value $.01 per share.

At December 31, 2003, there were 331.9 million shares outstanding
and about 26,300 stockholders of record.

Unisys common stock (trading symbol “UIS”) is listed for trading on
the New York Stock Exchange, the SWX Swiss Exchange and on
exchanges in Amsterdam, Brussels and London.

Preferred Stock
The company has 40.0 million shares of authorized preferred stock,
par value $1 per share, issuable in series.

At December 31, 2003, there were no shares of preferred stock
outstanding.

Voting Rights

Each share of Unisys common stock outstanding on the record date
for the annual meeting is entitled to one vote on each matter to be
voted upon at the meeting.

Annual Meeting

Stockholders are invited to attend the Unisys 2004 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, which will be held at The Hilton Inn at Penn, 3600
Sansom Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, on Thursday, April 22,
2004, at 9:30 a.m.

Formal notice of the meeting, along with the proxy statement and
proxy materials, was mailed or otherwise made available on or about
March 18, 2004, to stockholders of record as of February 27, 2004.

General Investor Inquiries and 
Correspondence

Investors with general questions about the company are invited to
contact Unisys Investor Relations at 215-986-6999 or
investor@unisys.com.

Direct investor correspondence to:
Jack F. McHale
Vice President, Investor Relations
Unisys Corporation
Unisys Way
Blue Bell, PA  19424

Investor Web Site

Unisys makes investor information available on its Web site at
http://www.unisys.com/investor. This site is updated regularly and
includes quarterly earnings releases, key management presentations,
a delayed Unisys stock quote, management biographies, corporate
governance information, key publications such as the annual report,
and other information useful to stockholders.

Company Financial Information

Unisys offers a telephone information service that provides fast,
convenient access to company financial news. Stockholders can use
this service to call seven days a week, 24 hours a day, to hear the most
current financial results and other general investor information.
Callers also can use this service to request a printed copy of the
current quarterly earnings release by fax or mail.

•In the United States and Canada, call 1-800-9-UNISYS (986-4797)
•Outside the United States, call +402-573-3678

Several publications that contain information of interest to investors
and potential investors are also available via written or telephone
request. These publications include:

•2003 and previous-year annual reports
•Forms 10-K and 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission

You can obtain these publications without charge via the Unisys
Investor Web site or by contacting:

Investor Relations, A2-15
Unisys Corporation
Unisys Way
Blue Bell, PA  19424
215-986-5777

Stockholder Services

EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., is the company’s stock transfer agent
and registrar. Administrative inquiries relating to stockholder
records, lost stock certificates, change of ownership or address, or the
exchange of PulsePoint Communications common stock certificates
should be directed to:

EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.
P.O. Box 43069
Providence, RI 02940-3069
781-575-2723
Toll free: 888-764-5596 (in the U.S. and Canada)
Hearing impaired: 800-952-9245 (TDD)
Internet: http://www.equiserve.com

Independent Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Statements made by Unisys in this annual report that are not 
historical facts, including those regarding future performance,
are forward-looking statements under the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are based on 
current expectations and assumptions and involve risks and 
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ from 
expectations. These risks and uncertainties are discussed on 
pages 29-31 of this report.
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How we operate in the marketplace is the foundation for our success.
To help keep us on course, our people apply a series of operating prin-
ciples that guide the way we do business. Why are these operating
principles so important to us? They help us keep an important com-
mitment to our clients: to deliver precision thinking and relentless
execution to drive our clients’ business transformation.

External Obsession: The holistic perspective that integrates our
clients’ industry dynamics, competitors and internal landscape into
every solution.

Best or Nothing: The healthy confidence and organizational drive
to target and achieve leadership in everything we do.

Invent the Future:  The breakthrough thinking that leaps at techno-
logical and economic opportunities precisely when the time is right.

Be Bold:  The vision and insight to take bold steps to change the rules.

Team for Speed: The realization that there is strength—and speed
of delivery—in partnering with others.

Deliver or Die: The passion to commit to win and then to do it.

Absolute Integrity:  We will have integrity in all our dealings and will
always stand for what is right and honest.

Unisys, the Unisys logo and ClearPath are registered trademarks and 3D Visible Enterprise and
3D-VE are trademarks of Unisys Corporation. All other brands, logos and products referenced in
this annual report are acknowledged to be trademarks or registered trademarks of their
respective holders.
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